

Walden University Scholar Works

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2018

Strategies Small Construction Business Managers Use to Reduce Safety Incidents in Their Organization

Peggy Ann Mcknight Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Environmental Health and Protection Commons, Occupational Health and Industrial Hygiene Commons, and the Organizational Behavior and Theory Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Peggy McKnight

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Gregory Washington, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Jorge Gaytan, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Douglas Campbell, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2018

Abstract

Strategies Small Construction Business Managers Use to Reduce Safety Incidents in Their Organization

by

Peggy McKnight

MSW, Western Michigan University, 1992 BS, Western Michigan University, 1989

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2018

Abstract

Globally the construction industry struggles to prevent injurious and fatal safety incidents. The purpose of this single case study was to explore strategies used by construction business managers that had significantly reduced the occurance of safety incidents in a Northwest Ohio construction company. Data were collected from organizational records and interviews with 6 construction managers. The conceptual framework for this research was the concept of safety management systems. Data were compiled and organized, disassembled into fragments, grouped, and then interpreted for meaning. Methodological triangulation and member checking were used to enhance reliability and validity. Four themes emerged from the data: senior management's commitment to a culture of safety, comprehensive safety training, safety accountability, and the importance of engaged employees. These findings indicate that senior managers established a safety-oriented culture by systematically implementing the safety management systems principles and practices in every organizational process and procedure. Safety training ensured that workers have the necessary skills to perform safely. All leaders, at every level of the organization, were held accountability for monitoring and measuring safety performance. Engaged workers were receptive to and compliant with safety rules. The positive social implications of these findings include the potential of contributing to the efforts to establish safer and healthier workplaces that protect workers from injuries and fatalities, thereby contributing to overall safety and health of communities.

Strategies Small Construction Business Managers Use to Reduce Safety Incidents in Their Organization

by

Peggy McKnight

MSW, Western Michigan University, 1992 BS, Western Michigan University, 1989

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2018

Dedication

I thank God for giving me the inspiration and strength to complete this extremely challenging, often frustrating journey. I dedicate this research to all the workers who want to return home safely. Finally, I dedicate this study to my grandchildren, Terrin, Jordan, and Spirit. I did this for you!

Acknowledgments

I gratefully acknowledge my chair, Dr. Gregory Washington, my second committee member, Dr. Jorge Gaytan, and my university research reviewer, Dr. Douglas Campbell. Your extraordinary guidance and support played a crucial role in helping me achieve the highest level of performance. I appreciate your expeditious reviews and exceptional expertise. Most of all, you never gave up on me, Thank You!

I would like to thank Marcus (You should be able to do this by now) Lemon,

Derek (you need a typing class) Lawrence, and my posse, Pam, Donna, Brenda, Joyce,

Tamara, and Patti for their continuous support. Special acknowledgments to Raybon

White, who believed in this research and would not let mw quit, Dale Grech, for always being himself and Billy Lewis, who always let me be myself.

Table of Contents

Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	4
Interview Questions	4
Conceptual Framework	5
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
Assumptions	7
Limitations	7
Delimitations	7
Significance of the Study	8
Contribution to Business Practice	8
Implications for Social Change	9
Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9
Safety Management Systems Conceptual Model	11
The Benefit of Implementing a Safety Management System	27
Safety Management Systems and Safety Incident Preventions	29
Alternative to the Safety Management Systems Conceptual Model	31

Occupational Safety and Health Administration	32
Small Businesses and Safety Strategies	39
Transition and Summary	42
Section 2: The Project	44
Purpose Statement	44
Role of the Researcher	45
Participants	47
Research Method and Design	48
Research Method	49
Research Design	50
Population and Sampling	51
Ethical Research	54
Data Collection Instruments	56
Data Collection Technique	58
Data Organization Techniques	60
Data Analysis	62
Reliability and Validity	64
Reliability	64
Validity	65
Transition and Summary	66
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	6
Introduction	6'

Presentation of the Findings	67
Emergent Theme 1: Senior Management Commitment to Safety Culture	68
Emergent Theme 2: Safety Training	72
Emergent Theme 3: Accountability	77
Emergent Theme 4: Employee Engagement	82
Applications to Professional Practice	87
Implications for Social Change	88
Recommendation for Action	89
Recommendations for Further Research	90
Reflections	90
Conclusion	91
References	93
Appendix A: Interview Questions	123
Appendix B. Interview Protocol	124

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Sousa, Almeida, and Dias (2014) reported that the construction industry has the highest rate of accidents. In addition, Janackovic, Savic, and Stankovic (2013) contended that, in the European Union, the fishing industry is the only industry with a higher rate of accidents and fatalities than the construction industry. Organizations with superior occupational health and safety policies provide enhanced environmental and social performance (Amponsah-Tawiah & Mensah, 2016). Accidents affect an organization's ability to compete globally (Boileau, 2016).

Background of the Problem

According to data from the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2015), 4,821 workers died in U.S. workplaces because of workplace incidents in 2014. In 2015, the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics reported 4,836 fatal injuries occurred, which was the highest increase in fatal injuries since the 5,214 fatal injuries reported in 2008. Workplace incidents place a financial burden on U.S. employers (Liberty Mutual Research Institute for Safety, 2017). The estimated cost of fatal and nonfatal workplace injuries was \$59.9 billion in 2014 (Liberty Mutual Research Institute for Safety, 2017).

Hoffmeister et al. (2014) suggested that leadership styles affect safety compliance and participation differently. Hoffmeister et al. claimed that there is a relationship between leadership styles and the way these styles influence employee behavior.

Gressard (2014) indicated that the efficiency level of managers to construct ways to transfer worker knowledge as a deterrent to safety errors might contribute to the reoccurrence of workplace errors with high-risk tasks.

The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2015) reported that in 2014, 2,905,900 workers suffered nonfatal injuries in the workplace. Lebeau, Duguay, and Boucher (2014) conducted a study in Canada and found that safety incidents represent a social and economic burden for businesses. The costs associated with occupational safety incidents influence the competitiveness, productivity, and reputations of businesses in Quebec (Boileau, 2016; Lebeau et al., 2014). Moreover, Jaafar et al. (2017) conducted a study in Malaysia and found an effective occupational safety and health management approach is necessary to prevent hazards on construction sites.

Problem Statement

According to Raheem and Hinze (2014), the construction industry globally employs 10% of the workforce but is responsible for 20 to 40% of the fatal occupational health and safety incidents. Occupational Safety and Health Administrators (OSHA; 2016) reported that 937 of the 4,379 worker fatalities occurred in the construction industry in 2015. The general business problem is that safety incidents negatively affect small business profitability and long-term sustainability. The specific business problem is that some small construction business managers lack strategies to reduce safety incidents in their organizations.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organizations. The study's target population consisted of six managers in a small construction business who have used strategies successfully to reduce safety incidents in

Northwest Ohio. The study may contribute to positive social change by reducing the negative communal effects of safety incidents in the workplace. When an employee is injured, the incident affects the employee's quality of life due to lost wages and benefits (Michaels, 2015). The burden of workplace incidents, such as injuries and deaths, caused by safety incidents affect employees and their families (Michaels, 2015). The burden of care and subsequent rehabilitation associated with the injury of a low wage earner often impact their family relationships (Michaels, 2015).

Nature of the Study

Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods were the three research methods considered for this study. According to Onwuegbuzie and Denham (2015), researchers use qualitative methodology to explore, examine, or describe a phenomenon in context through an array of data sources. The qualitative research methodology was appropriate for exploring strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organizations. Quantitative research is numerical and used to determine the relationship between data variables in research (Makrakis & Kostoulas-Makrakis, 2016). A quantitative research method was not appropriate for the study because numerical data would not have allowed me to explore strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organizations. Tariq and Woodman (2015) indicated that explaining the *how* and *why* questions with a numerical analysis are difficult. A mixed-methods research methodology is a combination of qualitative and quantitative data (Zou, Sunindijo, & Dainty, 2014). A mixed-methods

research methodology was not appropriate for this study because a numerical analysis would not describe circumstances in which safety incidents occur.

Case study, ethnography, and phenomenological were three research designs considered for this study. Researchers use a case study design to uncover practical insights and to answer the how and why research questions (Tariq & Woodman, 2015). I selected a case study research design because I conducted an in-depth analysis of the practical insights and data that prevent safety compliance. Phenomenological researchers attempt to understand people's lived experiences in their natural setting (Padilla-Diaz, 2015). A phenomenological research design was not appropriate because this research study was not about the lived experiences of individuals in their natural setting.

Qualitative researchers use an ethnographic design to examine the behaviors and patterns of cultural activities among groups in various settings (Mannay & Morgan, 2015). An ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study because I did not investigate behaviors and patterns of cultural activities among groups in various settings.

Research Question

Researchers use the research study to answer the overarching research question (Yin, 2014). In this study, the overarching research question was as follows: What are the strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organizations?

Interview Ouestions

- 1. What strategies do you use to reduce safety incidents?
- 2. How do you identify and evaluate safety hazards?

- 3. How do you and your managers correct deviations from safety rules?
- 4. What is unique about your safety program?
- 5. What additional information related to safety incidents can you share that might be helpful?

Conceptual Framework

I selected the safety management systems conceptual model (SMSCM) as the conceptual framework for this qualitative study. Heinrich (1959) developed the SMSCM in 1931. The basis of Heinrich's model is the domino theory. Heinrich found that a sequence of events resulted in safety incidents. Heinrich surmised that unsafe acts and unsafe conditions were the root cause of workplace safety incidents. Heinrich premised that if the manager removes the unsafe behavior or condition, safety incidents are preventable. Thus, Heinrich used the safety management system concept to suggest that many events cause safety incidents. Therefore, identifying, correcting, and educating the workforce is key to preventing occupational health and safety incidents (Heinrich, 1959).

The SMSCM was appropriate for this study because managing workplace safety requires creating a connection between management, organizational operations, and the employees (see Heinrich, 1959). I used the SMSCM as a conceptual reference and vehicle to identify the strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organizations. I used the SMSCM as the conceptual framework for this study to understand strategies small construction business managers use to reduce OSHA safety incidents in the workplace.

Operational Definitions

Incident protection: Incident protection occurs when organizations focus on protecting employees from illness and injury in the workplace (Kasirossafar & Shakbodaghlou, 2015).

Safety: Safety is protection from danger or harm (Ajator, Ezezue, & Agu, 2017).

Safety culture: Safety culture is the shared organizational perceptions regarding the safety policies and procedures and how these perceptions impact the employees (Griffin & Curcuruto, 2016).

Safety incident: A safety incident is a result of an injury or damage to equipment or property that could have caused an injury or fatality (Canadian Center for Occupational Health and Safety, (2017).

Safety management system program: A safety management system program consists of policies and standards that explain and regulate the safety rules the employees must follow (Federal Aviation Administration, 2016).

Workplace safety: Workplace safety is the protection of employees in the workplace from danger or harm (Ajator et al., 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions are beliefs not verified but assumed truthful (Simon, 2011). Limitations are the potential weaknesses that influence the quality of the study and are out of the control of the researcher (Simon, 2011). Limitations are tools used to state the uncertainties in the data (Lingard, 2015). Delimitations are the boundaries a researcher makes in a study and are within the researcher's control (Simon, 2011).

Assumptions

The first assumption was that the participants would answer the research questions honestly and candidly. I used the informed consent process to ensure the participants' understanding of the risks and benefits of the study and their role as a participant concerning the interview questions. The second assumption was that the inclusion criteria of the sample were appropriate and ensured all the participants had experienced some of the same phenomena of the study. I used the participant criteria to ensure the participants were well qualified in safety compliance and successful in the reduction of safety incidents in the workplace.

Limitations

A limitation of this study was the restricted underpinning theories, understanding and research on what strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organization. The second limitation was that there might have been unknown conditions or workplace cultures that could bias the responses of the participants.

Delimitations

The first delimitation was that the participants in the study were small construction business managers having successful experiences in reducing safety incidents in small construction businesses. I chose successful managers from a small construction business for their ability to share the skills needed to provide an effective foundation for health and safety systems. Because access to its members is easy, the

second delimitation was that participation was exclusive to members of the Better Business Bureau of Northwest Ohio.

Significance of the Study

Incorporating the strategies that emerged in this study could benefit small construction businesses. I explored strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in the workplace. The use of this study's findings may reduce workplace injuries and increase organizational effectiveness. The failure of small construction business managers to integrate safe working environments affects profitability and sustainability (Mosly, 2016).

Contribution to Business Practice

The use of this research study may contribute to small construction managers' business practices. The contribution of strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents could add new knowledge regarding the factors of safety compliance behavior and their effects on the reduction of OHSA safety incidents. Small construction business managers could generate effective business practices by examining safety strategies to reduce OSHA safety incidents related to the risk of injuries and fatalities associated with the workplace. The use of the results of this research study may contribute to future development of effective proactive strategies, which might improve safety compliance and, in turn, improve business practice.

The Midwest Economic Policy Institute (2017) reported that each avoided occupational fatality saves a construction organization \$5.3 million. The findings from this study may help small business leaders to understand the importance of investing

proactive safety procedures as part of the business plan (Park et al., 2013). Nationally, the 868 average of construction worker fatalities cost the U.S. \$5 billion each year in the costs and suffering associated to the fatalities and the reduced quality of life (Midwest Economic Policy Institute, 2017). Knowing how much occupational injuries and fatalities cost, may help small construction business managers recognize the importance of reducing safety incidents.

Implications for Social Change

The study may contribute to positive social change by reducing the negative communal effects of workplace safety incidents. The implications for positive social change include a safe and healthy workplace that protects workers from injuries and fatalities but also reduces the burden that impacts the families and communities related to occupational safety incidents (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health 2015). The study may also contribute to positive social change by small construction business managers reading the study and providing training for all employees on the awareness of safety hazards and how to reduce OSHA safety incidents at work and in the communities.

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

A researcher uses a professional and academic literature review to give a critical analysis and synthesis of the literature content and its various sources (Paulasso, 2013). The purpose of this literature review was to explore the strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organizations. A literature

review is a tool used to evaluate the existing literature and help the researcher educate the reader on what is prevalent and what is not (Paulasso, 2013).

The organization of this literature review is in chronological order. The literature review includes the history, mission, and standards of the OSHA and issues related to small businesses and safety. Included in the literature review are the fundamental issues of safety, for example, safety management systems, safety incidents, and safety incident prevention.

This literature review contains 211 references; 202 (97%) are peer-reviewed, with 190 (91%) of the total sources published less than 5 years from the anticipated date of the CAO's approval. I used research databases and libraries, including Walden University Library, ProQuest, Google Scholar, Science Direct, Safety Science, and EBSCO in my literature search. In the literature review, there were articles from national, state and federal government agencies, dissertations, peer-reviewed articles, books, and industry journals. I retrieved the literature with the following keywords: *safety*, *safety incidents*, *workplace safety*, *safety culture*, *safety management system program*, and *incident protection*.

The purpose of the qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies some small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organizations. While conducting a study in India, Unnikrishnan, Ishal, and Kimkar (2015) concluded that the majority of small and medium companies's lacked the lacked the safety procedures needed to reduce the workplace risks associated with safety issues.

Safety Management Systems Conceptual Model

Safety incidents on construction sites are the unintentional, random incidents that occur when managers combine employee's activities with materials and moving equipment (Hosseinian & Torghabeh, 2012). According to Heinrich (1959), the majority of safety incidents occur due to unsafe acts and unsafe working environments. Hosseinian and Torghabeh (2012) proposed that it is impossible to identify and eliminate all the hazards in a working environment; however, they found safety incidents in construction are preventable by identifying the root causes of safety incidents through investigation.

According to Pillay (2014), safety management systems have evolved through five different eras. Pillay reported the first era as a technical, management system of practices and procedures used to control unsafe acts. Pillay reported the second era as a behavior-based, human error age, the third as a sociotechnical era, the fourth as a cultural era, and the fifth as a resilience era. Heinrich (1959) based the first safety management system on his accident causation model, the domino effect. He insisted that accidents were the result of unsafe acts and unsafe conditions (Heinrich, 1959). Heinrich proposed that investigating these accidents using the standards and practices of a safety managed system would prevent future safety incidents.

Oswald, Smith, and Sherratt (2014) agreed with Heinrich's concept that safety management systems traditionally center around unsafe acts and unsafe conditions as the cause of many of the safety incidents on construction sites. However, they found that construction managers focused more on unsafe conditions or equipment at the construction site when 90% of safety incidents are a result of unsafe acts (Oswald et al.,

2014). Oswald et al. concluded that changing unsafe behaviors of the construction workers is an important factor towards improving health and safety on construction sites.

While many improvements exist in workplace safety, small construction businesses are still having a disturbing amount of serious safety incidents. The Bureau of Labor Statistics (2015) reported that 415 construction workers died at work in 2014, 25 construction maintenance painters, 42 roofers, 48 electricians, and 108 laborers. Van der Molen and Frings-Dresen (2014) determined that 80% of Dutch construction sites with violated fall hazard standards related to working from heights. Mohd Kamar et al. (2014) concluded from a study conducted in Kelantan that many small construction business managers lack safety awareness in their organizations.

Before organizations were federally required to reveal workplace hazards, managers insisted that it was the organization's responsibility to provide information regarding the health and welfare of the employees (Rosner & Markowitz, 2016). Industry managers were against government regulation because the industries were responsible for informing the workers and were already doing that (Rosner & Markowitz, 2016). The American people and the labor movement were not satisfied with the industries responsibility performance, and by the late 1960s, unions and public outcry for federal regulation led to the formation of the OSHA (Rosner & Markowitz, 2016).

According to Frieden (2013), federal laws and public opinion are used to support the enforcement of the protection of health and safety as a government role. Federal lawmakers use regulations to ensure that the industries inform their organizations of unique hazards and risks related to the materials the employees encountered (Rosner &

Markowitz, 2016). The creation of OSHA was innovative because there was a new law used to ensure that employers were responsible for the safety and welfare of their employees (OSHA, 2016).

Safety management systems are tools used to promote the continual enhancement of workplace safety using specific systems to prevent injuries and predict hazards. (FAA, 2016). The overview of construction safety implies that all the stakeholders should focus on the complexities of the work environment and the need for a managed approach to health and safety strategies in the workplace (Guo, Yiu, & Gonzalez, 2015). Heinrich (1959) described safety management systems as an organizational and systematic approach to managing hazards and risks in the workplace.

The SMSCM is a worldwide standard of the FAA (2016). Included in the safety management system is safety risk management. The FAA (2013) used safety risk management to evaluate the need for and the effectiveness of new or renewed risk controls based on the risk control assessment. Risk management monitors the organization's risk level and identifies new hazards (FAA, 2013).

Heinrich (1959) formed his approach to safety with the philosophy that unsafe acts or unsafe conditions were the primary causes of accidents in the workplace. Heinrich supported his theory by researching the causes of 75,000 employee insurance claims. He found the cause of 88% of the accidents were unsafe acts (Heinrich, 1959). Heinrich implied that the personal characteristics and actions of the employees were the cause of accidents

Heinrich (1959) described employees as having inherited or learned mindsets or traits that predisposed them to take risks and commit unsafe acts. Heinrich used this portion of his work to create the dominoes effect of accident causation. The domino factors were ancestry, social environment, unsafe acts or conditions, accident, and injury (Heinrich, 1959). The basis of Heinrich's causation model was preventing accidents by removing one of the domino factors. Heinrich concluded that employees could choose whether to work safely or not to work safely, and management could recognize individual characteristics and develop safety systems and procedures to improve workplace performance.

Heinrich (1959) concluded that management could control the employees' behavior related to unsafe acts and may control mechanical hazards and guarding.

Controlling mechanical hazards include installing guarding on machines and tools, providing personal protection equipment, and replacing or repairing tools and machinery. Heinrich used the theory to support teaching employees how to work safely and how to recognize hazards. He also used the theory to encourage discipline if the employees could not improve their work performance (Heinrich, 1959).

The OSHA administrators (2016) defined accountability as the condition of being responsible for one's behavior when it comes to safety. The General Duty Clause of Occupational Health and Safety Act 1970 lists five elements employers are accountable for, including (a) compliance with OSHA standards, (b) resources that provide employees with a safe operating procedure and a work environment that is free from hazards, (c)

training for all employees, (d) supervision of employees in safety practices, and (e) accountability – taking the steps to ensure employee safety compliance (OSHA, 2016).

Ozmec, Karlsen, Kines, Andersen, and Nielsen (2015) concluded that small construction businesses have a higher rate of safety incidents and barriers that challenge incident prevention. According to Ozmec et al., the communication between the owner of small businesses and the employees rarely influences how the employees view safety. In this study, I examined safety management systems and strategies that reduce safety incidents in the small construction business.

By studying actual records and engineering reports, Heinrich (1959) determined that 98% of occupational incidents are preventable. Heinrich proposed that while past circumstances were undesirable, an important fact remains: Management can prevent unsafe acts. Wachter and Yorio (2014) contended that safety management systems and employee engagement help reduce the barriers managers face during the enforcement of safety systems and the safety performance indicators.

Pillay (2015) suggested that the costs associated with reducing safety incidents in construction is a challenge that managers and the small construction industry face. Pillay concluded that the reason for the challenges is that technology changes quickly, and safety strategies have not kept up. Small construction businesses might improve their safety systems by looking at why accidents occur, what prevented safety incidents in the past, and what might work presently (Pillay, 2015).

The prevention of safety incidents depends on predicting the probability of a safety incident and the causes under certain circumstances (Hola & Szostak, 2014).

Heinrich (1959) found that workplace injuries and fatalities are preventable if management encouraged and enforced behavioral changes. Hola and Szostak (2014) suggested that the construction industry should embrace the importance of analyzing what causes safety incidents on construction sites and develop safety training and educational opportunities that enhance worker skills and create a safety system focused on reducing safety incidents.

Lee, Tse, and Ma (2016) found that poor decision making regarding crane work on Hong Kong construction sites leads to safety incidents that impact the organization's occupational safety and health performances. Lee et al. (2016) reported that construction contractors are responsible for the safety of workers on construction sites and must develop systematic measures to prevent safety incidents. Lee et al. (2016) found that virtual prototyping is a visualization of construction activities computing simulation by enabling a range of *what if* questions and analyzing what the implication means for the safety and health of the workers on the construction project.

Vasconcelos and Barkokebas (2015) reported that 7% of serious injuries and fatalities are preventable when managers add safety measures to equipment design. After investigating a safety incident in Brazil, Vasconcelos and Barkokebas (2015) found that the omission of safety elements in project planning result in workplace safety incidents. The causes of workplace safety incidents are diverse. Thus, safety incident investigations are difficult (Vasconcelos & Barkokebas, 2015). Therefore, organizations must accumulate mass amounts of data regarding safety incidents (Vasconcelos & Barkokebas, 2015).

Heinrich's safety management systems concept focused on human error as the major cause of accidents (Heinrich, 1959). Choudhry (2014) observed that behavioral causes of accidents are reduced on construction sites when management commits to providing effective safety behavior measures. Sinclair et al. (2013) found that intermediary organizations can help the negative effect of resource deficiency.

Occupational injuries and diseases cost Quebec averaged \$4.6 billion between 2005 and 2007 (Lebeau et al., 2014). Wachter and Yorio (2014) suggested safety management systems are used to influence employee behaviors, attitudes, and motivation. Wachter and Yorio (2014) suggested effective safety management systems that promote organizational performance include employee engagement.

Love (2016) implied that managing workplace safety is a global challenge. Love (2016) suggested that workers work unsafely due to construction manager's inability to provide safety strategies. Ozmec et al. (2015) reported that small construction companies have different operating issues from larger companies because in small companies the owner is usually the manager. Ozmec et al. (2015) concluded that safety managers in small companies are not as regulated as large companies, so the employees are left to figure out safety for themselves. When management recognizes the importance of health and safety issues, the investment in health and safety increases (Park et al., 2013).

An organization operating with an effective safety management system focuses on employee's safety performance measurements and how to influence their behavior through safety management (Jazayeri & Dadi, 2017). South Korean construction safety investigators suggest the safety climate would not only improve organizational safety

performance, but it should also reduce the cost associated the accident rate (Hi, Dong, Rose, Li, Cao, & Yin, 2016). A safety management system reduces risks to the organization and their employees by identifying risks, understanding the risks, and managing them appropriately (Nidhu & Abinaya, 2017).

Feng (2013) investigated how safety investments impacted the safety performance of contract workers. Researchers found that improving the safety performance on construction sites included adding health and safety in the development of business management (Nidhu & Abinaya, 2017). Wacher and Yorio (2014) argued that managers can use safety management systems to predict worker engagement levels. Thus, managers often see worker engagement levels as mediators between the safety management system and the safety performance outcomes.

SMSCM proponents argue that managing cost in safe prevention is difficult because technology advances faster. Further development of health and safety are needed to meet this challenge (Pillay, 2015). Jazayeri and Dadi (2017) found that the construction industry as three unique characteristics, these include fragmentation, a dynamic work environment, and safety culture. Guo et al. (2015) determined that the characteristics of construction sites and the lack of resources make it hard for small construction businesses to manage safety.

Feng (2013) added that the organizational safety culture might impact the project's safety performance due to low levels of safety systems management investments. Nielson (2014) argued that organizations need to clarify what culture means in their organizational plan to help translate the culture concept. Jazayeri and Dadi (2017)

reported that each organization has its definition and elements used for implementing a safety management system.

The International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) defined safety management systems as a systematic approach to managing safety, including the necessary organizational structures, accountabilities, and procedures (ICAO, 2014). The Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA) defined safety management systems as a systematic and explicit approach defining the activities an organization uses with safety management to prevent incident and accidents in the workplace (2017). The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) defined safety management as the formal, top-down business management approach to the safety risk, which includes a systematic approach to safety (FAA, 2016). Safety management systems have many disciplines and what is needed is a unifying approach to develop a framework that integrates the layers of safety management (Pillay, 2015). Yorio et al. (2014) suggested organizations have an obligation to their employees to share the elements of their safety management system with every employee at each level.

Choudhry et al. (2014) found that construction sites using the elements of a behavior-based safety management system benefit by reducing the number of injuries to the employees due to the prevention and control of construction site activities. According to Jazayeri and Dadi (2014), safety management systems have three components: a. administrative management elements, b. operational, technical elements, and c. cultural/behavioral elements.

Elements of safety management described by Heinrich (1959) included (a) close supervision, (b) safety policies, (c) employee training, (d) hazard identification, (e) safety audits, (f) accident investigation, (g) job analysis, (h) method safety analysis, (i) identification of accident analysis sheets, (j) approval processes for new construction and the installation of new equipment, (k) an approval process for changes in work procedures, and (l) establishment of safety committees and arrangements for emergencies and first aid. Successful managers use the safety management systems elements to make health and safety an important process in an organization's business activities.

The Federal Aviation Administration (2016) reported four components used to implement a safety management system. These include the safety policy, safety assurance, safety risk management, and safety promotion. Other vital elements in the Federal Aviation Administration safety management system includes a commitment by senior management; establishing clear safety objectives; defining methods and processes to meet safety goals under the safety policy; education and training; safety awareness communication; justifying competency requirements to system requirements and developing a positive safety culture using safety promotion

An effective safety management system uncovers the biases resulting from the employee's perception to assess the safety management system (Yorio et al., 2014). Improved safety management systems allow organizations to engage employees (Wachter & Yorio, 2014). Safety management systems and employee engagement are used to reduce accidents and improve organizational safety performance (Wachter & Yorio, 2014).

There should be specific elements included in the safety management system (OSHA, 2016). Included in the safety management system is safety risk management. Ding, Zhong, Wu, and Luo (2016) conducted a study on a construction site in Wuhan China. Ding et al. determined that construction risk knowledge is made up of safety records, safety regulations, best practices and the experiences of the subject matter experts. Ding et al. suggested that retrieving this information is time-consuming and error-prone. Ding et al. concluded that in real practice the lack of experience and being unfamiliar with the correct elements of the regulations makes it hard for the engineers to share risk knowledge.

Jorgensen (2016) suggested there was a need to go back and review occupational accidents to understand better why accidents still occur. Machfudiyanto, Latief,
Arifuddin, and Yogiswana (2017) argued that in Indonesian construction companies
measuring the safety culture is important to the reduction of unsafe working conditions.
Wachter and Yorio (2014) proposed using human performance based safety management systems and employee engagement to reduce or eliminate hazards in the workplace.

Safety management systems combined with employee engagement can predict safety performance (Wachter & Yorio, 2014). Wu et al. (2016) proposed a demonstrated management commitment and role modeling is important in a safety system. Wu et al. (2016) contended commitment from senior leadership is essential for frontline supervisors to be effective and effective frontline supervisors are critical to employee engagement. Wacher and Yorio (2014) maintained that managers use safety management systems to enhance worker engagement levels. Thus, worker engagement levels are

evaluation tools used to evaluate the safety management system and the safety performance outcomes.

Khosravi et al. (2014) suggested the research on safety in construction should focus on the many facets and complexities involved with the construction site environment. Accident prevention is critical to organizations because it is used to increase organizational sustainability and decrease the negative effects associated with workplace injuries (Ajator, Ezezue, & Agu, 2017). Health and safety education and training are elements of a successful safety system (Ajator et al., 2017). Employees need to know how to perform their jobs safely, and they need to know what hazards exist in the workplace and how to avoid those hazards, this leads to an increase in employee morale (Ajator et al., 2017). Tucker, Diekrage, Turner, and Killaway (2014) suggested that young employees in Canada may not understand the importance of reporting safety incidents. Research has shown that employees do not often report lost-time injuries despite a legal requirement that employees must notify an employer when a lost-time work-related injury occurs (Tucker et al., 2014).

Safety interview observations audits are an opportunity to identify any hazards and to ensure existing hazard controls are working. Safety meetings, investigations, and audits are the basis of safety management practices (Karanikas, 2017). However, Karanikas (2017) contended safety management should not use safety incident investigations as a measurement tool. A more effective measurement would come from the responses of organizational members (Yorio et al., 2015). Organizational perception is a true measurement of how well a safety system is performing (Yorio et al., 2015).

To eliminate safety incidents in any organization, investigating or identifying any inadequately controlled or unidentified hazards is crucial (Ajator et al., 2017). Research is increasingly stressing the importance of integrating activities to improve employee health and safety (Sauter, 2013). Programs that help improve the health and well-being of the workers include wellness programs, employee assistance and health and safety programs (Sauter, 2013). Ajator et al. (2017) suggested the formation of a health and safety committee that conducted regular safety audits would allow the employees to participate in recognizing hazards.

Jazayeri and Dadi (2014) found that the purpose of measuring safety performance is to evaluate the current safety situation while observing the progress of the current safety management systems. Jazayeri and Dadi contend that safe performance measurement is a critical part of the safety management system. Construction managers use performance measures as the foundation for continual safety performance improvement (Jazayeri & Dadi, 2014).

Heinrich (1959) proposed there are five events in an accident sequence, concluding that a series of events led to safety incidents. These were events related to the employees because of unsafe acts or a mechanical or physical hazard (Heinrich, 1959). Heinrich stated that since accidents happen in a series of events, the removal of unsafe acts or hazards would prevent accidents.

Dabrowski (2015) determined that the construction industry is a highly hazardous industry in Poland and Europe. Dabrowski (2015) contended that because of the environment that construction workers work in placed the employees at high risk for

injuries and health issues. According to Dabrowski (2015), construction contributes significantly to the economy. However, occupational safety and health are in an unsatisfactory position.

Fall protection is the number one OSHA violation in construction, which resulted in 937 fall fatalities in 2015 (OSHA, 2016). In 2015, 21% of the 4379 deaths in the private industry were due to construction sites (OSHA, 2016). According to OSHA (2016), other safety incidents on construction sites include getting struck by objects, getting caught between objects, and electrocution. Slipping, tripping, and get hit by vehicles are different safety incidents found on a construction site (OSHA, 2016).

Blair (2014) suggested numerous interventions that organizations can use to reduce safety incidents. Interventions are costly to an organization, and may not solve a hazard permanently. Blair (2014) suggested that safety professionals need to consider their organization and its needs before making safety guidance suggestions. According to Nielsen (2014), when managers recognize the value of the safety culture in an organization, managers accept safety as an integrated part of the organization. Nielson (2014) determined that organizations should assess the perceptions of the stakeholders before initiating a cultural change.

According to Fass, Yousef, Liginlal, and Vyas (2017), the principal cause of construction incidents the Arabian Gulf, includes risk perception, worker training, worker experience, personal protective equipment and safety violations. Fass et al. (2017) suggested that due to the lack of public outcry regarding construction safety in the Gulf, governments were unlikely to push regulation. Man, Chan, and Wong (2017) implied

enhancing the risk perception of the workers would reduce the merits and drawbacks of risk-taking behavior in Hong Kong construction sites. Man et al. (2017) proposed the risks call for the inspection of the risks in the workplace based on worker perception.

Man et al. (2017) concluded training employees to recognize the risks in the workplace would enable employers to develop measures to control the risks and reduce safety incidents.

Boileau (2016) proposed that managers need to consider unsafe working conditions, unsafe equipment, and employee behavior when making organizational decisions. Canadian research related to moving machine parts determined the absence of lockout procedures and clear job instructions were two causes of worker-related accidents (Chinniah, 2015). Easy access to moving parts is one of the main causes of accidents in Quebec (Chinniah, 2015). Chinniah (2015) concluded that when managers reduce the safety risk in running machinery, the machine could perform the function the machine required.

Frequency. Heinrich (1959) proposed the best way to measure the effectiveness of a safety management system is the disabling-accident frequency rates. There are an estimated three million serious workplace injuries each year. However, many injuries do not get reported (Michaels, 2015). The number does not include the estimated 50,000 employees who die from occupational diseases (Michaels, 2015). Chronic noncommunicable diseases and workplace health promotion are the new focus for the future of occupational safety and health (Harrison & Dawson, 2016).

Costs. When incidents continuously occur in the workplace, businesses experience direct cost, and indirect cost that can become expensive (Lebeau et al., 2014). Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) proposed the direct cost created by workplace incidents include damage to machinery, tools, and materials. Another example of direct costs are wage losses. Insurance premiums, medical payments, and workers' compensation are examples of direct costs. The indirect costs created by workplace incidents include (a) fines from regulatory agencies, (b) decreased profits due to re-training expenses, (c) investigations of incidents and near misses, (d) efficiency costs due to the loss of experienced employees, and (e) and expenses incurred by the employee and his or her family (OSHA, nd).

Lebeau et al. (2014) indicated the injuries and diseases in the workplace result in social consequences for the employee and monetary consequences for the employer. Investing in preventable causes of injuries can result in fewer work disruptions (Rohani et al., 2015). The costs related to workplace injuries and illnesses in Croatia have a significant impact on employers who should reevaluate the benefits of having a safety incident prevention program (Badun, 2017). Researchers have shown that a systematic and continuous safety management program that focuses on the identification of hazards and the analysis of risks are tools that reduce safety violations and safety incidents (Wachter & Yorio, 2014). Nidhu and Abinaya (2017) proposed that the relationship between safety management systems and the reduction of safety incident costs in the workplace deserves investigation. However, Wachter and Yorio (2014) indicated that

safety management systems without employee engagement would not reduce safety violations or safety incidents

Provan, Dekker, and Rae (2017) found that organizational stakeholders influence safety professionals through challenge, alliance, and authority. According to Provan et al., organizational influence may result in the ineffectiveness of the safety program.

Awwad, El Souki, and Jabbour (2016) reported that while a safety initiative exists in Lebanon, the lack of stakeholder commitment and inadequate safety education impacts the safety program implementation.

Misiurek and Misiurek (2016) discovered that the three significant root causes of human error in the United Kingdom on construction sites were a lack of employee training, inadequate work standards, and the lack of employee supervision. Misiurek and Misiurek argued that human error and not technical conditions impacted the number of safety incidents on a construction site. Misiurek and Misiurek proposed that using a Training Within Industry (TWI) program would help eliminate the safety incidents related to the three significant root causes of human errors.

The Benefit of Implementing a Safety Management System

Parker et al. (2016) proposed machine safety management programs might benefit small metal fabrication businesses by reducing safety citations and preventing a serious injury. Managers should view safety management systems as an investment and not as an expense (Boileau, 2016). When managers recognize the benefits of OHS investments enterprises can achieve increased profitability (Boileau, 2016).

During a study on construction workers conducted in Turkey, Yilmaz (2015) determined that hundreds of workers were killed or injured due to the lack of safety measures on construction sites. Golovina, Teizar, and Pradhananga (2016) concluded that their research on equipment blind spots for construction workers on foot was used to find root causes that result in blind spot related fatalities. The level of prevention of safety incidents has a financial impact on construction site sustainability (Yilmaz, 2015).

Demirkesen and Arditi (2015) proposed safety management systems in construction businesses are simply a set of safety standards that would be useless if the safety training is ineffective. Demirkesen and Arditi (2015) argued that language barriers put immigrant workers at a higher risk because of the limited command of the English language might prevent immigrants from understanding the job hazards. Small businesses are challenged to provide safety training for their employed due to limited resources and economic constraints. However, some organizations that provide safety training for free (Sunindijo, 2015). Wu, Wang, Zou, & Fang (2016) insisted leadership role-modeling influences the project safety culture more than any other leadership characteristic. Wu et al. (2016) contended that direct supervisors should have skills that reflect caring in the work environment.

Facey et al. (2017) argued that having an effective joint health and safety Committee (JHSC) required having effective communication, training, the appropriate committee members, and committed leadership. Having a joint health and safety committee is not enough, the JHSC must make an impact to provide a safe and healthy work environment (Facey et al., 2017). Successful safety teams provide guidance and

engage all the stakeholders, thus, allowing the safety program support and inclusion in the organization. Pilbeam, Doherty, Davidson, and Denyer (2016) contended a committed leadership recognizes the importance of engaging the employees.

A study between a Scandinavian company and a Danish company showed that rule-oriented, and participative leadership produces a positive result in safety performance (Grill, Pousette, Nielsen, Grytnes, & Torner, 2017). Grill et al. (2017) suggested Danish construction managers should set safety rules and encourage their employees to participate in the safety process of the organization. Grill et al. (2017) proposed leader visibility is another element of active transactional leadership. Effective leaders are on the manufacturing floor, actively clarifying leadership expectations (Grill et al., 2017). Grill et al. (2017) contended having a clear definition of a safety management system with engaged employees enhances safe behavior.

Safety Management Systems and Safety Incident Preventions

The historical elements of Heinrich's safety management systems approach may promote safety incident prevention in small businesses and reduce safety violations and incidents. Unnikrishnan et al. (2015) proposed that a written safety policy does not exist in most small businesses. Unnikrishnan et al. (2015) proposed competition previously proved problematic for safety in small industries because of economic survival and safety issues are unimportant when companies compete for other contracts. Today, competition is a driver for safety practices because clients want to associate with safe businesses (Unnikrishnan et al., 2015). Small business managers would benefit from understanding

how workplace health and safety management systems can significantly affect their competitive advantage (Sunindijo, 2015).

Using a confidential and free onsite consultation funded by OSHA can help small businesses identify potential hazards and discrepancies in their safety programs (OSHA, 2016). Small business owners can reach out to industry experts in their field for guidance in reducing safety incidents (OSHA, 2016). The same benefits large companies experience with the incident prevention approach may promote incident prevention in small businesses (Heinrich, 1959).

Targeting the training of the underserved workforce in workplace safety ensures the elements of safety and health are understood. (O'Conner, Flynn, Weinstock, & Zanoni, 2014). At-risk workers have language problems that prevent them from understanding safety practices (O'Conner et al., 2014). Finding ways to educate underserved employees enhances workplace safety, and as a result, workers increase their safety performance (O'Conner et al., 2014).

Mathias (2016) proposed utilizing marketing strategies to improve workplace safety, and through changing, the organizational attitude is worth investigating. Shamsi, Pariani, Shams, and Saleymani-nejad (2016) contended marketing strategies should include information that engages the employees and influences the behavior of the employees. Shamsi et al. (2016) used social marketing to study the effects of social marketing as an intervention strategy to promote the use of personal protective equipment in Iran. Mathias (2016) suggested promotional marketing strategies could be effective tools for promoting safety. The challenge is to find effective strategies that target

management and the employees to keep down the conflict between the two groups. (Mathias, 2016).

When employees feel their workplace cares about their health and safety, the employees are more likely to remain with the organization (Amponsah-Tawiah & Mensah, 2016). The safety system assesses the hazards in the workplace and monitors, evaluates, investigates, educates, and oversees the implementation of the safety policies used to control or eliminate the hazards in the mining industry (Bahn, 2014). Albert, Hallowell, and Kleiner (2014) suggest that construction businesses are unable to design safety practices at the work site. Albert et al. (2014) contended that when safety committee members recognize the risks associated with workplace hazards, organizational safety performance increase. Bahn (2014) agreed that a trained safety consultant guides organization towards a safe and healthy work environment; thus, improving the organization's competitive advantage.

Alternative to the Safety Management Systems Conceptual Model

A suggested alternative is behavior-based safety theory. Choudhry (2014) conducted a case study on behavior-based safety on a construction site in Hong Kong.

Results from the study showed that any company in any place could benefit from using a behavior-based safety (Choudhry, 2014). Behavior-based safety proponents relied on supervisors to use incentive programs to encourage the employees to work safely.

Observers gave training materials to the employees and provided feedback based on the training material (Choudhry, 2014). Users of this theory proposed the employees want feedback from supervision and need safety motivation to work safely. Khosravi, Asillian-

Mahabadi, Hauzadeh-Rangi, Bastani, and Behzadan (2014) determined that good supervision, worker engagement, and two-way communication negate unsafe behaviors. While behavior-based safety includes employee recognition, it should also include positive feedback and encourage open communication (Choudhry, 2014). Kim, Park, and Park (2016) determined that a safety management system and a safety culture change, both locally and nationally, would promote a prevention culture.

Leveson (2013) found that the system-theoretic accident model and processes (STAMPS) are a safety systems model that focuses on the failure to constrain safety system behavior that results in accidents. Leveson went past physical failure to include causation factors such as the dysfunctional interaction related to non-failing elements. Software and logic design errors, errors in complex human decision-making and workforce behavior are examples of non-failing elements. Leveson concluded inadequate safety procedures and undefined outside contractor standards are other examples of failure causation factors.

Occupational Safety and Health Administration

The OSHA's mission is to ensure a safe and healthy workplace for every man and woman in the nation (OSHA, 2016). Rosner and Markowitz (2016) observed that the OSH Act of 1970 and the Workers Right to Know laws were important events in OSHA's history. The Workers Right to Know established the chemical and hazardous substances laws that required employers to tell the employees what hazards were in the workplace. OSHA set safety standards and policies that saved lives and prevented injuries and illnesses (OSHA, 2014).

Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) policies include compliance assistance and cooperative programs (OSHA, 2014). According to OSHA (2016), safety incidents had decreased from 11 per 100 workers in 1972 to 3.5 per 100 workers in 2010. Occupational Safety and Health Administration is the organization responsible for ensuring employers provide workers with a safe workplace (OSHA, 2016).

Ajator et al. (2017) conducted a study using Nigerian Construction Companies that concluded that the implementation of health and safety management systems means site managers and the affected employees must be responsible for managing and controlling the risks and hazards they come in direct contact within the work environment. Golovina, Teizer, and Pradhananga (2016) contended that construction managers use near-miss heating maps as a tool to detect and dissect risks and hazards related to the interaction between workers on foot and heavy construction equipment. Amponsah-Tawiah and Mensah (2016) reported that when Ghana mining managers accept the fact that when workers feel safe at work, the employees gain a sense of belonging. Thus, a safe work environment increases worker loyalty.

The U.S. Congress passed the Occupational Safety and Health Act in 1970 to ensure worker safety (OSHA, 2016). Occupational Safety and Health regulations, which include lockout-tag-out, asbestos, machine guarding, fall protection and other standards have saved lives in the workplace (OSHA, 2016). Occupational Safety and Health Administration personnel regulate employee safety in all U.S. workplaces (OSHA, 2014).

The average number of Americans killed on the job was 38 per day in 1970 (OSHA, 2016). Since 1970, workplace fatalities fell by more than 65%; this includes occupational injuries and illnesses (OSHA, 2016). U.S. employment has almost doubled since the inception of OSHA to close to 130 million employees, which reinforces the difference OSHA has made in workplace fatalities and injuries since its inception (OSHA, 2016).

The Federal Government created OSHA based on the premise that the employees had a right to work without losing their lives (OSHA, 2016). MacLaury (1981) suggested the push for federal regulation came from officials in the Labor Department. In 1968, the Labor Department convinced President Johnson to include a bill that covered workplace safety. OSHA (2016) administrators were committed to providing a workplace safe from unknown chemicals and deadly hazards. MacLaury (1981) argued that businesses opposed the legislation because they were concerned with the amount of power the laws would give to the Secretary of Labor. On December 29, 1970, President Nixon signed the bill to administer a new division called the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA, 2016).

Occupational Safety and Health Administration administrator's statutory authority extends to most nongovernmental workplaces where there are employees (OSHA, 2016). Federal coverage excludes state and local government workers. State administrators operating their workplace safety and health plans cover most private sector workers and are required to extend their coverage to the public sector (state and local government) workers in the state (OSHA, 2016). Occupational Safety and Health Administrators

created the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) as a research agency whose purpose was to enhance the employers and the employee's ability to create safe working environments (NIOSH, 2016).

When the Occupational Safety and Health Act passed into law, agency inspectors were empowered (MacLaury, 1981). Agency inspectors could now force employers to provide the employees an environment that is free from recognized hazards (MacLaury, 1981). Industries disagreed with the empowerment, noting OSHA still had business owners and legislators thinking the federal government should stay out of state business and lobbied the Congress to place restrictions on the administration (MacLaury, 1981).

The Occupational Safety and Health Administration (2016) allows the states to setup and manage their own OSH programs. However, the states must enforce all federal standards and investigate standards covering hazards not addressed by federal standards. MacLaury (1981) contended industry lobbyists protested that federal regulation would interfere with the State's ability to govern at the local level. However, with congressional support, the law passed, and the creation of OSHA promoted workplace safety as a human right (OSHA, 2016).

With the creation of OSHA, workers now had a right to a safe working environment and the right to participate in their safety (OSHA, 2016). Clayton (2004) reported that under certain laws, the employer was not accountable for the injured employee. The three rules of common law were the fellow servant rule, contributory negligence, and the assumption of risk. The fellow servant rule that meant employers were not responsible if an employee experienced an injury because of another employee

(Clayton, 2004). Contributory negligence means the employer is unaccountable for damages if the injury is a result of his or her negligence. The assumption of risk means the employer is unaccountable because the employee knows the job is dangerous when he or she is hired (Clayton, 2004). The Occupational Safety and Health Administration provided workers with the right to a safe and healthy workplace. However, the workers continued to be injured (Michaels, 2015).

Clayton (2004) concurred that workers' compensation became law to provide employees injured on the job with insurance coverage that compensated the employees for lost wages, medical care and, in some cases, vocational rehabilitation. On the contrary, Michaels (2015) argued that the injured employee, family members, and society bore the burden of the costs of workplace injuries and illnesses. Clayton (2004) concluded that the basis of the worker's compensation programs was injured workers would receive no-fault benefits and employers would receive limited liability in case of a safety incident.

Before 1916, employees had to prove it was negligence on the employer when it came to injuries or death in the workplace (Clayton, 2004). Clayton (2004) argued that not all claims fell under worker compensation; each jurisdiction has rules that eliminates some injuries and illnesses that are expressly work related. Clayton (2004) reported that workers' compensation became law to provide employees injured on the job with insurance coverage that compensated the employees for lost wages, medical care and, in some cases, vocational rehabilitation. Clayton (2004) concluded that the benefit of the

worker's compensation programs was that injured workers would receive no-fault benefits and employers would receive limited liability in case of a safety incident.

According to OSHA (2016), the top four construction violations in 2016 were the duty to provide fall protection, scaffolding, ladders, and fall protection training.

Presently, fall hazards continue to be one of the fatal four leading causes of fatalities in construction (2017). A National Stand-Down for fall prevention was a tool used to raise fall hazard awareness on construction sites across the nation (OSHA, 2017). The Occupational Safety and Health Administration collaborated with essential organizations in the effort to prevent fatal falls and injuries in construction (OSHA, 2017). These organizations included the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), The National Occupational Research Agenda (NORA), OSHA approved State Plans, State Consultants Programs, The Center for Construction Research and Training (CPWR), The American Society of Safety Engineers (ASSE), The National Construction Safety Executives (NCSE), The National Safety Council, The U. S. Air Force, and The OSHA Training (OTI) Education Centers (OSHA, 2017). There was also the Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act.

The Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act (SBREFA) of 1996 (2015) requires federal agencies to answer a request from small businesses for advice and interpretation regarding small business compliance. The Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Act was a tool used to allow small business managers participation in the development of new regulatory standards (SBREFA, 2015).

OSHA standards. Agency standards are rules used to describe the methods employers must use to protect employees from hazards (OSHA, 2016). There are four groups of OSHA Standards: General Industry, Construction, Maritime, and Agriculture (OSHA, 2016). General Industry has the largest number of worksites and employees because general industry covers every type of industry not covered by maritime, construction, or agriculture (OSHA, 2016). The Occupational Safety and Health Act has a General Duty Clause that mandates employers to provide employees with a workplace environment that is free from recognized harm that may cause death or serious physical harm (OSHA, 2016).

Congress established the Mine Health and Safety Act (MHSA) in 1977 (MSHA, 1977). Congressional members created the mining act to protect the health and safety of mineworkers (MSHA, 1977). Congressional members used the mining act to establish standards to regulate and improve the quality of the work environment for miners. (MSHA, 1977). The mining act was used to force mine owners to comply with the standards created for the mining industry (MSHA, 1977). The mining act was used to create training programs and develop research focused on preventing accidents and diseases in the mining industry (MSHA, 1977).

The Wage and Hour Division administers the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (2009). The Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act was established to give contract workers safe working conditions and the right to receive fair compensation for time worked over 40 hours whether they are working on a federally funded contract or not (CWHSSA, 2009). Organizations that receive federal contracts

that are \$100,000 and above must comply with CWHSSA standards (CWHSSA, 2009).

Organizations that knowingly or repeatedly violate the overtime laws are fined and penalized (CWHSSA, 2009)

The Fair Labor Standards Act created the 40-hour workweek, a national minimum wage, overtime pay, and child labor standards (FLSA, 2016). The FLSA (2016) designed the child labor provisions to prevent minors from working instead of attending school and preventing the exposure of minors to hazardous employment (FLSA, 2016). The Fair Labor Standards Act requires employers that offer summer or afterschool employment to children must ensure the child is 16 or older to work in a warehouse, construction site, or in a manufacturing plant (FLSA, 2016). The Fair Labor Standards Act states employees 18 or older may work in any industry, regardless of hazards, without a specified number of work hours (FLSA, 2016).

Small Businesses and Safety Strategies

Heinrich (1959) used his safety management systems conceptual model to project the premise that good safety management does not need to be expensive and that the inclusion of safety in the business plan is necessary. Wachter and Yorio (2014) contended engaging the employees in safety awareness reduced the errors employees made because of not being aware of the hazards in their surroundings.

Small businesses are a large part of the American economy. According to the U.S. Small Business Administration (2016), there are 28.8 million small businesses in the nation. Van der Molen and Frings-Dresen (2014) contended small construction business managers do not know how to recognize workplace hazards and 14% of construction

workers reported they encounter unsafe conditions often at work. Sunindijo (2016) argued many small construction businesses in Australia do not have the client's commitment to safety needed to educate and train their employees.

Promoting health and safety through appropriate prevention programs is often difficult for small chemical businesses in China because of the lack of resources and the knowledge required when implementing a safety management system (Zhao, Joas, Abel, Marques, Suikkanen, 2013). Ozmec et al. (2015) contended that focusing on safety in small businesses makes good business sense since small businesses make up a large part of the economy.

Sunindijo (2016) examined reasons businesses viewed safety hazards as part of doing business. The lack of resources and misunderstanding OSHA regulations are just two of the reasons small businesses view hazards as part of doing business (Zhao et al., 2013). Sinclair and Cunningham (2014) suggested small businesses would benefit from training and support from OSHA and other agencies with compliance resources. Most building contractors in Nigeria understand that safety risks have a negative influence on their profits; however, the building contractors still view the cost of safety compliance as too costly (Okoye & Okolie, 2014). Michaels (2012) considered OSHA inspections save lives while adding cost to organizations a myth.

Sunindijo (2016) found small businesses too overwhelmed with the day-to-day operations to be concerned with safety compliance. Ozmec et al. (2015) found that small construction companies often overlook safety compliance to be more competitive in the

industry. Sauter (2013) found occupational safety and health programs need more research to promote the integration of safety and health in the workplace.

Sinclair and Cunningham (2014) argued that small businesses allow other activities to interfere with their commitment to safety. Sinclair and Cunningham (2014) suggested the lack of knowledge and resources are factors that hinder the implementation of safety incident prevention. Sinclair and Cunningham (2014) concluded that commitment to health and safety resources would enhance small and medium enterprise safety programs and reduce incidents and fatalities.

NIOSH (2015) proposed temporary workers, immigrants, and minorities are characteristics that put workers at a higher risk of injury and illness in the workplace. Rohlman et al. (2016) suggested young workers are at-risk workers. NIOSH (2015) insisted that many at-risk workers work for small businesses. Guo et al. (2015) reported that due to the nature of safety risks in construction, safety systems might not effectively cover the dynamics in the workplace. Dragano et al. (2015) after conducting a study on at-risk workers, argued that in all countries, temporary employees or young employees often lack the knowledge needed to work safely and are at a greater risk for injury.

Bahn (2013) used a case study to examine how safety conditions changed for contract workers in mines compared to permanent employees and what problems occurred. Bahn (2013) concluded that mixing non-permanent workers with permanent workers was problematic; however, the problems were not systematic. When workers are working under two different sets of safety practices, there is conflict (Bahn, 2013).

Migrant workers are at a higher level of risk than permanent workers are. The lack of training, language barriers, and lack of experience placed the workers at risk (Giraudo, Bena, & Costa, 2017). Picchio and Van Ours (2017) reported Italian research concluded temporary worker underreport injuries and are at a higher risk for severe injuries than regular workers are. The National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (2015) proposed temporary workers are vulnerable because of overlapping characteristics such as being non-union or working in a small business. Multiple characteristics increase the barriers to a workers' health and safety in the workplace.

Transition and Summary

Section 1 included the foundation of the study, and the examination of strategies business managers use to reduce safety incidents in small businesses. I explored strategies successful business managers have developed that might contribute to the safety of other employees in other industries. The review included literature on small businesses and questions on the research question. The literature review included literature on OSHA's safety, safety systems management, safety incidents and incidents, and incident prevention.

Section 2 contains the purpose of the proposed study, my role as the researcher, and the selection of the participants. Section 2 contains (a) the research methodology, (b) the research design, (c) the data collection, (d) the data analysis procedures, and (e) the reliability and validity of the research. Section 2 also includes a transition summary to Section 3.

Section 3 contained the purpose of the study and the research question, a summary of the study findings, and a complete presentation of the study findings. Section 3 included a discussion of the way the conclusion and recommendations apply to the professional practice of business, a summary of my reflections from the study findings, and my recommendations for further research.

Section 2: The Project

The focus of the study was to explore the strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organizations. The specific problem was that some small construction business managers lack strategies to reduce safety incidents in their organizations. Section 2 contains the purpose of the study, my role as a researcher, and the selection of the participants. Section 2 also includes the research methodology, research design, data collection, population and sampling, analysis process, reliability and validity of the research, a summary, and a transition into Section 3.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of the qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organizations. The study's target population consisted of six managers in a small construction business who have used strategies successfully to reduce safety incidents in Northwest Ohio. The study may contribute to positive social change by reducing the negative communal effects of safety incidents in the workplace. When an employee is injured, the incident affects the employee's quality of life due to lost wages and benefits (Michaels, 2015). The burden of workplace incidents, such as injuries and deaths, caused by safety incidents affect employees and their families (Michaels, 2015). The burden of care and subsequent rehabilitation associated with the injury of a low wage earner often impact their family relationships (Michaels, 2015).

Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher is to collect valid and reliable data to answer the overarching research question for a given study (Bahrami, Soleimani, Yaghoabzodeh, & Ranjbar, 2016). Assuming this role of the researcher and after I received IRB approval, I collected and analyzed qualitative data related to strategies some small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organization. As the researcher, I used semistructured interviews, company records, and interview observations to collect valid and reliable data.

As the researcher, I have a relationship with my research topic. I have a background in health and safety resulting from 8 years working in a manufacturing environment as a certified safety professional. I have firsthand experience with the enforcement of safety policies. I witnessed the effect a fatality had on an organization. My personal experience did not influence the interview results nor the formation of the interview questions.

The role of the researcher is to practice the ethical duty and obligations of the three principles of the Belmont Report: Beneficence means to cause no harm to the participants and to maximize the benefits of the study, justice means the researcher distributes the burdens and benefits of the study equally, and the respect of persons means to recognize that the participants are autonomous and that participants with diminished autonomy need protection (Belmont Report, 1979). I followed the three principles of the Belmont Report by providing an assessment of the risks and benefits of the study in the informed consent form.

Smith and Noble (2014) contended that researcher bias exists and can have an impact on the interpretation of the study findings. Viewing data from the researcher's personal lens is a form of research bias (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Bracketing is a tool used to mitigate bias in research (Sorsa, Kukkala, & Astedt-Kurki, 2015). Bracketing is the process of identifying the unresolvable bias that exists in the study (Sorsa et al., 2015). I used bracketing to reduce researcher bias by writing interview notes during the data collection and analysis.

The interview protocol provided guideline that researchers use to ensure the research questions align with the interview questions (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). There were four elements in the interview protocol. The research participants have the right to privacy and confidentiality (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). The participants have the right to expect the researcher to be honest (Sanjari, Bahramnezhad, Fomani, Shoghi, & Cheraghi. 2014). The participants have the right to sign a written informed consent form (Sanjari et al., 2014). Using an interview protocol helps the qualitative researcher to create validity and reliability in the research findings (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). I used the interview protocol to inform the participants that they were under no obligation to participate, that they could withdraw at any stage in the interview process, and that there would be no consequences if they decided not to participate. I followed the interview protocol example found in Appendix A.

Paradis, O'Brien, Nimmon, Bandiera, and Martimianakis (2016) suggested that the use of semistructured interviews, interview observations, and company records are appropriate tools to collect qualitative data. I used open-ended questions during

semistructured interviews to collect the unique experiences from the participants. I used interview observations to collect nonverbal cues from the participants. I used company records to increase the validity of the data collected and for additional opportunities for further research studies.

Participants

Selecting the correct participants in a qualitative study is critical to collecting well-informed, in-depth data of interest (Etikan, Musa, & Alkassim, 2016). The eligibility criteria for participants in a qualitative study come from the overarching research question (Etikan et al., 2016). Exploring strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organizations was the focus of this study. The eligibility criteria for participants in this qualitative study included managers of a small construction business with at least 10 employees, but not exceeding 300, with a proven record of accomplishing safety violation reductions in Northwest Ohio. The chosen participants met specified eligibility criteria to participate in this study, as recommended by Palinkas et al. (2015).

Gaining access to study participants is an important part of the interviewing process (Cunliffe & Alcadipani, 2016). After receiving IRB approval to conduct the study, I gained access to the participants by attending emailing participants on their website. Kondowe and Booyens (2014) conducted a research study in Khayelitsha, South Africa and recommended that researchers attend meetings in which the researcher and potential participants may attend. I introduced myself and explained the purpose of the study with the consent form. I asked the members of the Better Business Bureau of

Northwest Ohio to participate in the research study. In a qualitative study, the researcher provides the criteria to participate to the potential participants and explains confidentiality and the informed consent process (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Once a Better Business Bureau member agreed to participate, I explained the informed consent process to each participant and gave the participant an informed consent form to sign. I used the informed consent form as an example of the informed consent form.

Building and maintaining trust is a crucial step in building a working relationship conducting the interview process with peers (Quinney, Dwyer, & Chapman, 2016). In a qualitative study, researchers create a working relationship by encouraging the consensual participants to ask questions regarding the study (Ponelis, 2015). I set up the interview times, dates, and location with the participant's approval. I built a good networking relationship with the participants by sharing the interview process openly. I showed the participants genuine interest and respect.

Qualitative researchers use the eligibility criteria to establish the alignment of the participants with the overarching research question (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). I used semistructured interviews, interview observations, and company records to help answer the research question. The participants had the background and experience to answer the interview questions, as Palinkas et al. (2015) recommended.

Research Method and Design

Researchers use the research design to reveal the appropriate data collection method (Trefry, 2017). Rudnick (2014) suggested that researchers use the qualitative method to uncover comparisons in health research data. In qualitative research, the

participants have an active role in the progress of the study (Austin & Sutton, 2014). For this study, I chose the qualitative research method and a single case study design.

Research Method

When using the qualitative research method, exploring the perceptions and experiences of the participants is important (Gelling, 2015). Rahman (2017) contended that researchers use the qualitative research method to provide a richness and depth to data related to the participant's behaviors and perceptions. Yauch and Strudel (2003) concurred that qualitative researchers use methods, such as interview observations and case studies, to produce underlying values, beliefs, and assumptions about organizations. In this research study, I explored the strategies some successful small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organizations.

Austin and Sutton (2014) suggested that qualitative research is important because it allows researchers to seek and accept the complex and evolving quality of the world in context and adds a new aspect to interventional research that quantitative measures might overlook. Gelling (2015) concurred by proposing that the qualitative research method is appropriate when studying participants in their natural setting as a method for understanding social interactions in context. In this study, I explored strategies that help managers reduce safety incidents. Quantitative methods did not apply to this study because researchers using the quantitative method apply statistical techniques to generalize patterns about the study process (see Almalki, 2016). While mixed-methods research methodology allows researchers to obtain in-depth and contextualized insights, very few safety researchers use a mixed-method research methodology to study safety

issues (Zou et al., 2014). The mixed-method research methodology was not appropriate for this study because the mixed-methods research methodology contains quantitative methods, which I did not need in this study.

Research Design

Cronin (2014) proposed case study as a research strategy when the researcher explores in-depth descriptions of the participant's experiences with strategies. I used semistructured interviews, interview observations, and company records to collect detailed information from business managers possessing successful experience in reducing safety incidents in the workplace. Rossetto (2014) stated that qualitative research interviews allow the researcher to contextualize the participants' experiences by providing a richer understanding of how the participants perceive those experiences. Using company records to examine facts regarding company policies and statistics is appropriate in qualitative case studies (Rahman, 2016). In addition, Rahman (2016) indicated the use of interview observations is appropriate in qualitative case studies.

I chose a case study research design. A case study is appropriate when the researcher focuses on a contemporary phenomenon in real-life context explored with *how, what,* or *why* research question (Harrison, Birks, Franklin, & Mills, 2017). A case study is an appropriate approach when the researcher explores a case identified for study (Hyett, Kenny, & Dickson-Swift, 2014). Phenomenological researchers attempt to understand people's realities gained from life experiences (Padilla-Diaz, 2015). A phenomenological approach was not appropriate for the study because the study was not about understanding people's life experiences. Qualitative researchers use an

ethnography to investigate large groups in their real-life environment, focusing on the cultural characteristics of a group (Tickle, 2017). An ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study because this approach focuses on the cultural characteristics of a group and not their workplace experiences.

Data saturation occurs when there is no new data revealed that relate to the research question (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Data saturation means there are no new codes, themes, or information for the researcher to collect that contributes to previous data (Wu, Thompson, Aroin, McQuaid, & Deatrick, 2016). Tran, Tran, Porcher, and Ravaud (2017) presented a mathematical model to describe how researchers could use math to reach data saturation. I obtained data saturation when there were no new data that I could use to enhance previous research.

Population and Sampling

The population of a research case study consists of participants that have the same characteristics defined in the sampling criteria developed by the researcher (Palinkas et al., 2015). The population for this study consisted of safety managers in a small construction business that has demonstrated the ability to reduce safety incidents. The small construction business managers had a minimum of 5 years in business. I selected purposive sampling for this study. Researchers use purposive sampling to choose study participants based on the study criteria (Mauceri, 2014). Researchers use purposive sampling to examine the participant's perspective regarding the research topic (Shneerson & Gale, 2015). Purposive sampling is the process of identifying and selecting participants that are knowledgeable about or experienced with the phenomenon of interest (Palinkas

et al., 2015). I used purposive sampling to explore strategies successful managers use to reduce safety incidents.

Researchers use a sample or subset of the chosen population to establish the number of participants (Hyett & Dickson-Swift, 2014). The number of participants should allow the researcher to reach data saturation. Data saturation means there are no new codes, themes, or information for the researcher to collect that contributes to previous data (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I achieved saturation when there were enough data to duplicate the study, when the ability to obtain additional data did not exist, and when further coding was no longer feasible. Yeasmin and Rahman (2012) suggested researchers use methodological triangulation to enhance the validity of the data results. Fusch and Ness (2015) stated researchers use methodological triangulation to reach data saturation. I used the interview findings, company records, and interview observations notes until no new substantive information surfaced.

The sample size must be large enough to answer the overarching research question and small enough to reach data saturation (Burmeister & Atiken, 2012). While Yin (2014) does not specify a concrete number, Yin does imply the number of participants depends on the research question and the research approach (Yin, 2014). The number of participants for this study consisted of six successful managers in a small construction business having membership in the Better Business Bureau of Northwest Ohio and having been in business for at least 5 years.

Researchers use the eligibility criteria in a research study to describe the characteristics that specify inclusion and exclusion from being a participant (Lamb,

Backhouse, & Adderly, 2016). Researchers use the eligibility criteria to obtain accurate and meaningful findings (Georgia Center for Oncology Research and Education, 2017). Eligibility characteristics could include occupation, age, gender, ethnicity, and location (Georgia Center for Oncology Research). The eligibility criteria for participants in this study included (a) managers in a small construction business with a successful safety record of reducing safety incidents in the workplace, (b) managers having been in business for at least 5 years, and (c) are members of the Better Business Bureau of Northwest Ohio. The eligibility criteria were appropriate for this study.

Qualitative interviewing has been the primary method used to collect data in qualitative research (Oltmann, 2016). The interview setting should include an area with minimal distractions and occur at times and locations convenient and comfortable for the participants (Edwards & Holland, 2014). Manzano (2016) proposed researchers use qualitative interviews as a tool with open-ended questions in a semi or unstructured process. Costillo-Montoya (2016) contended researchers should inform participants of the nature of the study and the ethical considerations of the study.

I conducted semistructured interviews with six participants chosen from the population sample. The interviews contain 5 open-ended questions. I gave the participants an informed consent form to sign and return to me. I used interview observations notes to capture nonverbal cues when the participant responds to the research questions. I used company records to increase the validity of the data. I conducted the interviews when and where it was convenient for the participants.

Ethical Research

As recommended by Zhou and Nunes during a study in China (2013), I did not start the interview process before obtaining approval from Walden's Institutional Review Board (IRB). I conducted the research under the Walden University IRB approval number 02-27-280434376. Noain-Sanchez (2016) recommended that researchers obtain participant's consent before commencing the data collection. As recommended by Noain-Sanchez, I used the informed consent form to inform the participants of the purpose of the research and requested their consent to the interview process.

Komic, Marusic, and Marisic (2015) proposed that informed consent means informing the participants of their right to confidentiality, their right to withdraw from a research study, and whether there are any incentives for participation in the study. When the participants agreed to participate in the study, they received an informed consent form found in Appendix C. Qualitative researchers use the informed consent form to protect the rights of the research study participants (Grady, Cummings, Rowbotham, McConnell, Phil, & Kang, 2017). Palinkas et al. (2015) contended researchers use the informed consent form to explain to the participants their right to withdraw at any time from the study. Sanjari et al. (2014) contended researchers use the informed consent form to protect the participants through full disclosure and confidentiality. Grady et al. (2017) suggested that researchers are rethinking the informed consent process. Grady et al. (2017) reported the use of the internet and smartphones as a tool for collecting data without compromising the research participants. I sent the consent form via e-mail to the participants, presented the printed copy of the consent form in person, and asked the

participants to confirm their willingness to participate in the study. I informed the participants that they were under no obligation to participate, could withdraw at any stage in the interview process, and there were no consequences if they decided not to participate. I informed the participants that there were no incentives for participating in this study.

Redlich-Amirav and Higginbottom (2014) proposed using data analysis software to code and manage the collected data from the research interviews. Paradis et al. (2016) proposed researchers use coding to identify participant documents. I used a numerical code to protect the identity of the participants throughout the study. The participants' documents listed in the table of contents and the appendices were (a) Appendix A, The Interview Questions; (b) Appendix B, The Interview Protocol; (c) Appendix C, Certificate of Completion.

Securely storing data in a locked location helps ensure participant confidentiality (University of Delaware Research, 2015). I created a Microsoft Word file with a password to ensure confidentiality and privacy. I plan to destroy the files after the 5-year period. Destroying word files and audiotapes after 5 years is appropriate (University of Delaware Research., 2015). I plan to store the audiotapes of the interviews in a safety deposit box and destroy them after the 5-year period. Human Research Protection Program administrators (2017) contended destroying documents that identify the participants after a 5-year period is appropriate. I plan to destroy all documents that could identify the participants after the 5-year period.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the primary data collection instrument. Kendall and Halliday (2014) contended that as the primary data collector, qualitative researchers in India need the support of supervisors and ethics committees when they encounter unpredictable issues during the data collection process. Data collection techniques include using company documents, interview notes, interviewing, questionnaires, and focus groups (Paradis et al., 2016). The data collection techniques that I used in this study are semistructured interviews, company records, and interview notes. Hofisi, Hofisi, and Mago (2014) proposed the use of semistructured interviews in a qualitative study to produce an indepth understanding of the participant's experience related to the research question. O'Keeffe, Buytaert, Mijic, Brozovic, and Sinha (2016) proposed researchers use semistructured interviews to explore the how, what, and why of the participant's experiences, using the research question as a guide. Gelling (2014) stated that semistructured interviewing is appropriate for a qualitative study because of rich, indepth data researchers collect from study participants' knowledge of the study topic. Therefore, semistructured interviews were appropriate for this study.

Researchers use data sources to access large amounts of statistical data (Hemkens et al., 2016). Researchers use existing company records to obtain a better understanding of the way the company functions, the company culture, company policies and company changes (O'Leary, 2014). Yin (2014) proposed company records are appropriate to use in case study research. I used company records to increase the validity of the collected data by conducting methodological triangulation.

Researchers use interview observations to document nonverbal cues exhibited by participants during the semistructured interview (Oltmann, 2016). Documenting nonverbal cues using interview observations enhances the validity of the data and increases the credibility of the study results (Bonaccio, O'Reilly, O'Sullivan, & Chicchio, 2016). Onwuegbuzie and Byers (2014) indicated the use of interview observations is appropriate in qualitative studies. I used interview observation notes to increase the reliability of the data collection. I documented the nonverbal cues of the participants during the semistructured interview by taking interview observation notes.

The interview protocol is a tool used by the researcher as a guide through the interview process (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). The interview protocol is a tool used to ensure the accuracy and consistency of the experiences of each participant (Heydon & Powell, 2016). Jacob & Furgerson (2012) reported that researchers use the interview protocol as a checklist to ensure all the relevant questions are in the interview. I conducted semistructured interviews, recorded interview observations, and reviewed company records to collect interview data. I took notes during the interviews to capture nonverbal cues when the participants respond to the research questions. I reviewed company records to increase the validity of the collected data. I used the interview questions included in Appendix A. I followed the interview protocol included in Appendix B.

Member checking is a tool used to allow the participants to review the accuracy of the data in the interview transcript (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016).

Researchers used member checking as a tool for participants to confirm or disconfirm

what they said in the interview (Simpson & Quigley, 2016). Researchers use member checking to validate the accuracy of the researcher's interpretation of the participants' responses to interview questions (Birt et al., 2016). Once the participants ensured the interpretation of their information was correct, the researcher asked if there was any additional information. However, because of the field notes and non-verbal cues that the researcher gathers, some participants might not recognize the collected data (Hadi & Closs, 2016). Member checking enhances the trustworthiness of the collected data (Birt et al., 2016). Qualitative researchers use member checking to ensure the reliability and validity of the collected data (Hadi & Closs, 2016). I scheduled time for member checking with participants to ensure the reliability and validity of the collected data. I gave each participant a copy of my interpretation of their responses to interview questions, written in my own words, for their validation and clarification. I used member checking to allow the participants to add to or subtract from the interview data after conducting interviews.

Data Collection Technique

Researchers use multiple data collection techniques to collect data about the participants in their natural environment (Makrakis & Kostoulas-Makrakis, 2016). Hofisi, Hofisi, and Mago (2014) proposed researchers use an array of data collection techniques. The techniques include reviewing company records, interview observations, interviewing, questionnaires, and focus groups (Paradis et al., 2016). I chose semistructured interviews, interview observations, and company records. Researchers use methodological triangulation to ensure trustworthiness (Dang, 2015). I used

semistructured interviews, interview observations, and company records to validate the collected data. The data collection process included (a) attending the lunch seminar to access members of the Safety Council of Northwest Ohio, (b) obtaining and distributing the potential participant's signed informed consent forms located in Appendix C, and (c) setting the time and date for the interviews. I used interview observations to capture nonverbal cues when the participants respond to the research questions. I reviewed company records to increase the validity of the collected data.

Gelling (2016) stated one advantage to semistructured interviewing is the rich, indepth data it provides. Another advantage of semistructured interviews is that an informal atmosphere can encourage the participant to be open and honest (Jong & Jung, 2015). Flexibility is another advantage to using semistructured interviews (Hofisi, Hofisi, & Mago, 2014). Having flexibility allows the researcher to adjust the interview questions or change the direction and pace of the interview as the interview takes place (Jong & Jung, 2015).

A disadvantage to using semistructured interviews is the prejudices, stereotypes, and assumptions of the interviewer may affect the interview outcomes (Hofisi, Hofisi, & Mago, 2014). Another disadvantage is that the interviews are time-consuming, regarding both the data collection and the data analysis (Jong & Jung, 2015). Finally, a disadvantage to using semistructured interviews is that an untrained interviewer may lead the participant to reveal information the participant could regret afterward (Alshenqeeti, 2014).

Using company records to verify facts regarding company policies and company statistics is appropriate in qualitative studies (O'Leary, 2014). One advantage of using company records is the data are easy to access (Hemkens et al., 2016). A disadvantage of using company records is the data may not be specific to the researchers' needs (Doolan, Winters, & Noureddine, 2017). Onwuegbuzie and Byers (2014) indicated the use of interview observations is appropriate in qualitative studies. One advantage to interview observations is the researcher may notice something in the participant's body language that could lead to new insights not covered in the interview questions (Bonaccio et al., 2016). While researchers could gather rich data from using non-verbal cues, a disadvantage to using interview observations is qualitative researchers seldom use nonverbal cues in data collection (Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014)

The data collection process includes member checking to ensure the validity and reliability of the study (Hadi & Closs, 2016). Researchers use member checking to ensure the accuracy of the researcher's interpretation of participants responses to interview questions (Birt et al., 2016). Researchers use member checking to enhance the credibility of the findings (Simpson & Quigley, 2016). I conducted member checking with study participants to ensure my interpretation of the interview data were accurate and complete.

Data Organization Techniques

Researchers use data organization to analyze and interpret the collected data in one phase before advancing to the next phase of the qualitative process (Wu et al., 2016). The data organization process includes (a) data checking, (b) code identification, (c) sorting and coding the themes and patterns, (d) transcribing the data, and (e) documenting

conflicting data (Neale, 2016). I used the data organization process to analyze and interpret the collected data. I used an organizational technique to give direction to the organizational process. I engaged in (a) checking the data, (b) identifying codes, (c) sorting and coding the themes and patterns, (d) transcribing the data, and (e) documenting conflicting data as my data organization process.

One qualitative researcher using an inductive approach identified the data as a critical step in the data organization process (Liu, 2016). Melville and Hincks (2016) suggested numerical coding is appropriate for participant identification. I used numerical coding to identify the participants. I identified the study participants as SP1 through SP6. Researchers use coding as a data organization tool to group similar concepts into categories and subcategories to answer the research question (Ose, 2016). When the coding was complete, I sorted the data, created Microsoft Word files based on the emerging themes, and created a different set of numerical codes for the emerging themes and patterns. I used member checking to document conflicts or misinterpretations.

Buys and Shaw proposed (2015) 5 years as the amount of time the confidential data from a study remains in the researcher's possession. Destroying the data after the proposed 5-year waiting period is appropriate (Human Research Protection Program, 2017). I transcribed the data into a Microsoft Word file secured with a password. I stored the audio tapes in a safety deposit box. I plan to destroy all documents 5 years from the completion of the study.

Data Analysis

Yeasmin and Rahman (2012) stated that the use of triangulation strengthens the consistency of the findings and increases the validity of the results. Almalki (2016) proposed that methodological triangulation is used in qualitative research to collect different types of data related to the research topic and is then, compiled for analysis and interpretation. Carter et al. (2016) suggested that methodological triangulation is appropriate for a qualitative study because researchers use multiple data sources to enhance the validity of the process. I used the interview findings, company records, and interview observations to enhance the validity that was a result of using multiple data sources.

Yin (2014) proposed there are five steps in the data analysis process. The steps include compiling the data, disassembling the data, reassembling the data, interpreting, and concluding the data to address the proposed purpose of the study. When researchers use multiple data sources, the data must be compiled in preparation for the data analysis (Johnson et al., 2017). In the compiling phase, I organized the data sequentially to build a database. In the disassembling phase, I sorted, compared, and coded the data. In the reassembling phase, I used the cluster style and categorized the coded data into themes. The interpreting phase involved creating meaning from the themes and patterns that emerged from the data. I analyzed the themes and patterns that emerged from the data. The final phase of the data analysis process was concluding the data (Yin, 2014). Qualitative research impacts the results of the research study (Austin & Sutton, 2014). I drew conclusions from the analyzed data.

During the data analysis, researchers use the findings to describe the research topic (Wu et al., 2016). During the data analysis process, researchers used the data analysis method to organize the data, compare the data, and create codes from the comparisons or categories (Yin, 2014). I identified themes that emerge from the compared data and made conclusions (Austin & Sutton, 2014). I used the data analysis method using categorical aggregation to conduct the data analysis process.

During the data analysis process, researchers used the interview data to help draw conclusions about the research problem and the research question (Wilson & Onwuegbuzie, 2016). Utilizing the key themes, researchers often compare the literature review and the proposed conceptual framework to address the research question (Gelling, 2017). During the data analysis, researchers use the findings to describe the research topic (Wu et al., 2016). I focused the themes on the purpose of the study and explored the strategies small construction business managers used to reduce safety incidents.

A mind map is a visual thinking tool used to help the researcher structure the data with a visual display of the patterns, concepts, and categories (Kotob, Styger, & Richardson, 2016). Researchers use mind maps to organize the emerging data (Aykac, 2014). Researchers use mind maps to uncover creative connotations emerging from the data (Sumen & Calisici, 2015). I used a mind map to generate new ideas for themes and patterns and their interconnections. I used a mind map to correlate my themes with the current literature.

Reliability and Validity

Leung (2015) stated that validity, reliability, and generalizability are important issues when designing, analyzing, and interpreting the quality of a qualitative study. In a qualitative study, dependability, creditability, transferability, confirmability, and data saturation ensure reliability (Gelling, 2015). Gunawan (2015) suggested the term dependability in qualitative research performs the same function as reliability in quantitative research. Noble and Smith (2015) proposed the concept of rigor in a quantitative study replaced the exploration of consistency in the qualitative study. I used reliability and validity when I designed, analyzed, and interpreted the quality of the study.

Reliability

Member checking is a tool used to ensure the reliability of the study (Hadi & Close, 2016). Birt et al. (2016) proposed comparing the participants' comments and the transcript data ensures the accuracy of the researcher's interpretation of member checking. Researchers use member checking to obtain more in-depth information and enhance creditability (Simpson & Quigley, 2016). I scheduled the participants for member checking sessions to ensure my interpretation of the interview data were correct.

Dependability ensures the results of the research is consistent and reputable (Gelling, 2015). Triangulation is a tool used to validate data using multiple sources. The methods conducted, analyzed, and interpreted in the study measure the results (Carter, Bryant-Lukosius, Dicenso, Blythe, & Neville, 2014). Gunawan (2015) proposed that researchers establish dependability to understand how reliable the research methods are. I used methodological triangulation as a tool to measure the study results and to ensure the

interview questions would produce answers to the overarching research question. I used the interview findings, company records, and interview notes to establish dependability in the data

Validity

Validity is the result of the level of trustworthiness in the data that proves the data are accurate (Carter et al., 2014). The rich, thick, and in-depth description is a useful tool for establishing validity (Hadi & Close, 2016). Ndanu and Sysmba (2015) proposed researchers use methodological triangulation to facilitate data validity. I used the interview findings, company records, and interview notes to establish validity in the data.

Creditability establishes believability in the research results (Moon, Brewer, Januchowski-Hartley, Adams, & Blackman, 2016). Researchers use creditability to demonstrate confidence in the research data (Gelling, 2015). Simpson and Quigley (2016) proposed member checking is a technique used to ensure creditability. I gave a copy of my interpretation of the study participants' answers to the interview questions to the participants for validation purposes. The participant's comments served as a check of the transcripts creditability.

Transferability refers to transferring the data contextually (Moon et al., 2016). The reader should be able to take the research and its collection method and compare it to a similar situation with the same results in another setting (Gelling, 2015). Hadi and Closs (2016) stated the details of the research lends the study transferability. I used the limitations, assumptions, and the delimitations as a tool to measure the degree to how much the results of the study would transfer outside of the study.

Confirmability occurs when other researchers concerning the potential for bias or data distortion confirm the study findings (Moon et al., 2016). Confirmability is the level of the study findings other researchers can corroborate (Gelling, 2015). Confirmability is appropriate for establishing trustworthiness in qualitative studies (Anney, 2014). I identified and documented any negative circumstances that could distort my interpretation of the findings.

Saturation in this study consist of six interviews with participants that fit the population criteria. Qualitative researchers use purposeful sampling from the population criteria to achieve saturation (Suen, Huang, & Lee, 2014). Fugard and Potts (2015) contended it is possible to reach saturation after six interviews. Fusch and Ness (2015) proposed stopping the data collection upon data saturation is appropriate. I reached data saturation after interviewing the six participants. I asked the participants additional questions to collect data until no new themes were emerging from the data.

Transition and Summary

Section 2 included the purpose of the proposed study, the role of the researcher, participant description, research method and design, population and sampling, details of ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection techniques, data organization techniques, data analysis techniques, and reliability and validity.

Section 3 contains the purpose of the study and the research question, a complete presentation of the study findings, a discussion of the way the conclusion and recommendations applied to the professional practice of business, a summary of my reflections from the study findings, and my recommendations for further research.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies successful small business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organization. I used four semistructured interview questions to collect data from six successful small construction business managers. In addition, I used the process of methodological triangulation to compare and validate the data collected from interview notes and company records. The results consisted of four themes developed using a categorical aggregation of the data. Four emergent themes supported what strategies successful small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organization. All participants (100%) in the study acknowledged that (a) senior management commitment to safety culture, (b) safety training, (c) accountability, and (d) employee engagement were critical strategies for small construction business managers to use to reduce safety incidents in an organization.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question is as follows: What strategies do successful small construction business managers use to reduce safety violations in the workplace? I identified four themes from interview notes, interview data, and company records. I used the themes to link the literature review and the conceptual framework provided in Section 1. The conceptual framework for this study, Heinrich's SMSCM, aligned with the themes

Emergent Theme 1: Senior Management Commitment to Safety Culture

The first theme that emerged from a thorough analysis of the participants' responses to the interview questions and a review of company records is that senior management must be committed to improving safety, promoting a successful safety system, and empowering everyone on site to be a part of that success. Each participant indicated that senior management commitment created a positive organizational safety culture. Study Participantreported that employees look to senior managers for health and safety guidance. SP1 emphasized the importance of leaders visiting the work site and mingling with the team members. SP1 stated,

In our organization, the leaders visit the site where they acknowledge good safety practices and address unsafe work practices. The visits give the team members the opportunity to ask question and report issues they think are important to having a safe working environment.

SP2 noted that the way the employees respond to safety reflects the way the employees perceive the managers commitment. SP2 stated,

In our organization the managers make it very clear on what kind of work practices that are tolerated and those that are not . . . making people accountable for their actions is supported by a clearly written safety policy. When the safety practices and standards are clear and concise, everyone is accountable for the decisions they make and should be rewarded or disciplined for those decisions.

SP3's report concerning senior management's commitment to a safety culture emphasized transparency. SP3 stated that

Establishing a safety culture demands an honest and transparent discussion of the organizational expectations regarding the safety culture. Our organization uses evaluation tools and employee surveys to get input from the team members and the first line supervisors on where the gaps are in our safety program.

SP4 noted that senior management must create and sign a written safety policy that describes the organization's goals and commitment to health and safety. SP4 indicated that the written safety policy needed to include everyone in the organization. SP4 stated that

Our managers are or should be transparent and visible in their daily interactions with the employees. Our managers are expected to lead by example, following the same safety procedures they expect the team members to follow and by being consistent in their enforcement of those procedures.

SP5 believed that senior management commitment to the safety culture helped define the safety methods and processes in the organization. SP5 reported that senior management commitment contributed to the organizational structure needed to meet the safety goals. SP5 noted that senior managers created the safety policy to establish clear safety objectives and to convey an organizational commitment to communicate the safety objectives. SP5 responded that "we believe in organizational communication." SP5 stated that

By communicating and defining the safety expectations, the managers, employees, subcontractors, and anyone else on the worksite can understand what the expectations are when it comes to working safely. Senior management

commitment is beneficial when the commitment supports a culture of safety built on a foundation of organizational policies and procedures who are communicated and enforced

SP6 described a safety culture as the organizational beliefs, values, and attitudes of the people in the organization. SP6 noted that establishing a successful safety culture starts with the leadership. SP6 stated that "you know you have a successful senior management safety culture commitment when all the team members and the entire organization looks out for each other and are not afraid to report injuries or safety hazards."

Correlation to the literature. Studies from the literature review confirmed the findings of my study. Feng (2013) reported that senior managers, committed to health and safety and model that commitment, develop motivated employees who are committed to performing their work safely. According to Kim et al. (2016), senior management must play the leading role when it comes to creating successful safety systems. Similarly, members of the FAA (2016) noted that organizations that include management commitment, communication of health and safety policies to the entire organization, and organizational safety accountability have a successful safety program.

Wu et al. (2016) emphasized that the success of health and safety programs depends on the behaviors of the managers. Nielsen (2014) supported Wu et al.'s conclusions by stating that the foundation of a safety culture is determined by management clearly defining the roles of each employee and communicating the organization's expectations for what is required to comply with the safety policies. Kim

et al. (2016) noted that organizations with a healthy safety culture are identified by communications based on mutual trust, shared perceptions of the importance of workplace safety, and confidence in the organizations implementation of preventative measures. Amponsah-Tawiah and Mensah (2016) concluded that employees are not naturally committed to their organizations and that employees expect their managers to consider their health and safety by implementing good and sound safety measures.

Correlation to the conceptual framework. The conceptual framework supported the study findings. Heinrich (1959) contended that upper management was responsible for creating a safety culture and developing a health and safety management system. By studying actual records and engineering reports, Heinrich determined that 98% of occupational incidents were preventable. He proposed that while past circumstances were undesirable, an important fact remains, which is that management can prevent unsafe acts. He also concluded that managers can control the employees' behavior related to unsafe acts and the mechanical hazards and proper guarding.

Controlling mechanical hazards included installing guarding on machines and tools, providing personal protection equipment, and replacing or repairing tools and machinery. Heinrich proposed that controlling the safety of the work environment is a management function. He used the theory to support teaching employees how to work safely and how to recognize hazards. He used the theory to encourage discipline if the employees could not improve their work performance.

Ozmec (2015) indicated that the organizational size, safety culture, and financial situation sometimes have an impact on employee workplace safety practices. Nordlof,

Wijik, and Westergren (2015) reported that smaller organizations struggle more than larger organizations. Sinclair and Cunningham (2015) noted that smaller organizations are the majority in every industry in the United States. Sinclair and Cunningham also proposed that smaller organizations endure the greater burden of occupational injuries, illnesses, and fatalities than larger organizations. Van der Molen and Frings-Dresen (2014) contended that small construction business managers do not know how to recognize workplace hazards and that 14% of construction workers reported they encounter unsafe conditions often at work. Cunningham et al. (2018) contended that smaller organizations often lack the necessary resources for effective occupational safety and health activities pertaining to non-native workers. However, OSHA (2016) regulations require all organizations to manage the risk and hazards in the workplace and on construction sites to protect human health and ensure safety. Small businesses are not exempt from such regulations.

Emergent Theme 2: Safety Training

The second theme that emerged from the data referred to safety training. The participants' findings revealed that providing health and safety training to the employees could improve employee morale and increase organizational efficiency. In the analysis of the participants' responses and reviewing company records, I found that investing in employee safety training, such as recognizing potential hazards, conducting safety audits, and using personal protection equipment transforms employees into team players, making safety the organizational bottom line.

The analysis of the participants' responses and the review of company records revealed that construction companies that use dangerous equipment and operate in volatile work environments need safety training to create a safety culture. A successful safety program does not stop at a worker's orientation to the job. Instead, a successful safety program includes explaining situations the team member might encounter and instructing the way that team member should respond. When the team members cannot recognize the hazards or understand safe work practices, the team members face a higher risk for injury or fatality.

All participants agreed that safety training was key in reducing safety incidents in the workplace. SP1 boasted that SP1's organization was different from other construction sites because when the organization hires new employees, the new person is assigned to a team peer trainer. SP1 noted that

The team peer trainer is responsible for helping the newbie get acquainted with the worksite and to help resolve or explain what the rules are and where to go for assistance if needed. Peer-to-peer safety training is a large part of our organizational culture.

SP2 reported that SP2's organization has a safety program based on supplying the team members with the knowledge and skills needed to do their work safely, thus avoiding hazards that put themselves and or their team members at risk. SP2 stated that

Management commitment means considering the health and safety of everyone in the organization; this means being committed to training the employees to be aware of their surroundings and to look out for each other. Everyone on the worksite should be able to recognize hazards, contractors, sub-contractors, clients, suppliers, everyone.

SP3 reported that the team peer trainer is responsible for helping the new person get acquainted with the worksite and resolve or explain the rules and where to go for assistance. SP3 added, "peer-to-peer safety training is another large part of our organizational culture." All participants reported safety training reduced the organizational costs related to safety incidents on the construction site by ensuring everyone in the organization understands the hazards in their environment and the necessity of controlling the hazards and promoting safe work practice. SP4 reported that safety training was costly but necessary. SP4 stated that, "the cost of retraining an injured team member or hiring a new team member to replace an injury or fatality is reduced by safety training." SP4 noted,

In the construction business, because of the complex and constantly changing environment safety, injuries and incidents cost the industry millions of dollars in medical costs. If you included lost wages and worker compensation, safety training just makes good business sense.

SP5 believed that safety training was an essential element required to keep the organization safe. SP5 reported that training the team members the proper way to execute their work tasks includes teaching the team members the proper techniques and procedures for using the machinery and tools safely. SP5 reported that giving the team members refresher safety training is equally as important as training new team members. SP5 stated that

When the team members work repetitively, doing the same tasks over and over daily, the team members may not think that the safety training is important as it was when the team member was initially trained and become laxed in practicing workplace safety.

SP6 agreed that dull and mundane work tasks can lead to a laid-back work attitude. The same caution a concerned team member experience as a new worker can change over time. SP6 highlighted the importance of team members understanding the aspects of training and the reasons safety training remains relevant and essential to the success of the organization. SP6 stated that

The benefit of refreshing team member safety training is to remind the worker that danger on the worksite still exists. When the team members go without safety training regarding old and new hazards, complacency develops and the chances of a safety incident or fatality increase.

Correlation to the literature. According to Burke et al. (2006), leaders using worker safety and health training improve the workers' safety knowledge and reduce workplace safety incidents. Hola and Szostak (2014) suggested that leaders of the construction industry should embrace the importance of analyzing what causes safety incidents on construction sites, develop safety training and educational opportunities that enhance worker skills, and create a safety system focused on reducing safety incidents. Dragano et al. (2015) conducted a study on at-risk workers and found that, in all countries, temporary or young employees often lack the knowledge needed to work safely and are at a greater risk of injury. Cunningham et al. (2018) stated that there are

omissions in the length, occasions, and the way leaders provide safety and health training to at-risk workers.

According to Raheem and Hinze (2014), the construction industry globally employs almost 10% of the workforce but is responsible for 20-40% of the fatal occupational health and safety incidents. OSHA (2016) reported that 937 of the 4379 worker fatalities occurred in the construction industry in 2015. The Bureau of Labor Statistics (2015) noted that there are tens of thousands of injuries that occur each year on construction sites. The principal causes of worker fatalities and injuries on the construction site are falls, being struck by an object, electrocution, machinery, and being trapped between objects or walls (BLS, 2015). Health and safety training enhances the workers' awareness of workplace hazards and enables the workers to work safely and productively (Burke et al., 2006). The participants revealed that providing health and safety training to the employees could improve employee morale and increase organizational efficiency.

Managers use worker safety and training to reduce workplace safety incidents and the cost associated with workplace injuries and fatalities (Okoye & Okolie, 2014). Oswald, Smith, and Sherratt (2015) suggested that the practice of analyzing what causes safety incidents on construction sites, developing safety training and educational opportunities that enhance worker skills, and creating a safety system focused on reducing safety incidents would improve the construction industry's sustainability.

Correlation to the conceptual framework. Heinrich (1959) contended that leaders can contain or avoid many of the common workplace hazards if employees

receive safety training and the proper personal equipment. Heinrich noted that in addition to the obvious benefit of keeping the workers safe, providing a safe work environment will reduce the costs related to safety incidents. Heinrich also indicated that safety training and hazard education were crucial to arming the employees and managers with hazard-recognition and safety skills to ensure that the team members can work safely and perform more efficiently. Nidhu and Abinaya (2017) proposed that the relationship between safety management systems, safety training, and the reduction of safety incident costs in the workplace deserves investigation. Hola and Szostak (2014) supported Nidhu and Abinaya's (2017) claim when stating that proper safety training can reduce insurance losses, administrative penalties, and litigation fees.

OSHA (n.d.) leaders proposed that the direct cost of workplace incidents created include damage to machinery, tools, and materials. According to OSHA, another example of direct costs is wage losses. Insurance premiums, medical payments, and workers' compensation are examples of direct costs (OSHA, n.d.). The indirect costs workplace incidents created include (a) fines from regulatory agencies, (b) decreased profits due to re-training expenses, (c) investigations of incidents and near misses, (d) efficiency costs due to the loss of experienced employees, and (e) and expenses incurred by the employee and the employee's family (OSHA, n.d.).

Emergent Theme 3: Accountability

Fostering a culture of safety accountability was the third theme that emerged from a thorough analysis of the participants' responses to the interview question and a review of the company records. All six participants shared that promoting accountability

empowers employees with the motivation to engage in personal development and practice organizational safety policies. SP1 reported that safety accountability is a learned behavior. Before team members start a task, the team member should consider the task and what is the correct way to complete the job safely. Team members and managers must ensure the employees understand the elements regarding the tasks for completion and the necessary personal protective equipment available. Safety accountability means the team members and the managers are aware of the work environment and are constantly monitoring the work site for changes or hazards in the area. SP1 noted that a significant difference in SP1's organization from other organizations was that the team members are given the resources needed to perform their tasks safely. SP1 reported that the team members are given time to set up safety programs and the technology they need to support the joint safety activities, such as safety meetings, safety audits, and a reward system. SP1 stated that

When the construction industry builds a culture of accountability into their safety practices, the team members watch out for each other. The team members are empowered to speak up when they see hazards and the team members and management are not afraid to hold each other accountable.

SP2 reported requiring managers and employees to conduct daily workplace inspections and review the information that identifies the hazards that are already present and have the potential to result in a safety incident. SP2 noted placing blame is not a productive way of teaching the team members or line supervisors to trust open communication and does not promote personal motivation. SP2 stated that

Senior management traditionally looks for consequences focused on punishing the team members or lower managers for performing unsafely. In our organization, we look for consequences that produce positive results. When a manager sees a team member in an unsafe situation, an accountable manager would take the time to explain the hazard and help the team member find a safer method to finish the task.

SP3 believed that safety accountability starts with talking to other members and managers about safety. SP3 reported that if managers do not make safety a part of the employees' jobs, managers should not hold the employees accountable for their individual safety. SP3 stated that

Before management can create an environment of team member accountability, the managers must set the rules of accountability with transparency and open communication. Clearly stated expectations enable the members of the organization to know what is expected and empowers the members to make safe decisions.

SP4 noted that safety accountability is not just showing up for work on time and performing the assigned tasks. SP4 stated that "being accountable included being responsible for their individual safety and the safety of their team members. The team members must be encouraged and rewarded for reporting near misses, safety incidents, and potential hazards."

SP5 stressed the importance of setting safety expectations and supplying the team members the resources needed to achieve the safety expectations. SP5 reported that senior managers should lead by example when it comes to accountability. SP5 stated that

Managers think of accountability as a positive and empowering value that creates a basis for individual and organizational success. Blaming others corrupts corrective action and denies the team members the opportunity to learn, giving the team members and lower managers credit when they succeed sets the tone for positive organizational accountability.

SP6 reported that a successful manager with an inclusive attitude motivates the team members and creates a motivating environment. SP6 stated that "an essential piece of empowering motivated team members includes asking their opinions and providing positive and frequent feedback." SP6 added that "empowering the team members means managers must model empowering behavior."

Correlation to the literature. Martin and Lewis (2015) noted that construction managers focusing on safety standards assign each level of the organization safety accountability. Skeepers and Mbohwa (2015) suggested that accountability means improving safety performance by providing safety management systems based on safety leadership, communication, commitment, and employee training.

The OSHA (2016) leaders defined accountability as the condition of being responsible for one's own behavior when it comes to safety. The General Duty Clause of OSHACT 1970 listed five elements employers are accountable for, which are (a) compliance with OSHA standards; (b) resources that provide employees with safe

operating procedures and a work environment that is free from hazards; (c) training for all employees; (d) supervision of employees in safety practices; and (e) accountability, which is taking the steps to ensure employee safety compliance (OSHA, 2016). Daniel (2015) contended without a clear definition and a lack of understanding the responsibilities, Australian leaders experience challenges associated with construction workers' safety performance. According to Hashim and Chileshe (2012), depending on the size of the organization, there may be front-line, middle, and senior management levels. Organizational leaders must define accountability for each level of management (Hashim & Chileshe, 2012). Daniel (2015) noted that without a clear definition of safety leadership, a misalignment between safety expectations and employee performance may develop, which creates confusion in employees.

Martin and Lewis (2014) stated that improving the Trinidad and Tobago construction industry's safety track record requires a deep understanding of the factors that drive employees to engage in unsafe behaviors and attitudes, risking their individual safety. Shen, Chuanjing, Koh, Rowlinson, and Bridge (2017) found that safety climate interventions would be more effective in the future if managers display transformational leadership, encourage construction workers to speak up for safety, and model safe behavior on the job. Management must define what the employees do, explain organizational expectations, and measure and reward employees' actions and performance towards promoting a total safety culture (Martin & Lewis, 2015).

Correlation to the conceptual framework. Heinrich (1959) contended that unsafe acts or behaviors are the primary cause of injuries and safety incidents in the

workplace. However, Heinrich proposed that accountability from management and the workers is very important in avoiding injuries at the workplace. Heinrich stressed that management's failure to make workers accountable plays a role as well in the occurrence of injuries.

Heinrich (1959) proposed that controlling the safety of the work environment is a management function. He used the concept to support teaching employees to work safely and recognize hazards. He also used the concept to encourage discipline if the employees could not improve their work performance. Heinrich concluded that a part of the SMSCM approach is based on the premise that a worker's sense of accountability is an internal condition or belief caused by the knowledge that failure to meet performance expectations would result in a consequence. Thus, He insisted that successful accountability exists when leaders objectively evaluate safe behavior.

Emergent Theme 4: Employee Engagement

The fourth emergent theme from a thorough analysis of the participants' responses to the interview questions and a review of the company records was employee engagement. All participants unanimously agreed that employee engagement is important to an organization's safety performance. SP1 reported that employee engagement is necessary for identifying and evaluating hazards because employees need to understand and identify any potential safety hazard in the work environment. SP1 believed that leaders engage their employees through team member involvement. SP1 stated that

Having weekly safety audits and a monthly safety meeting allows the team members to openly discuss the safety concerns or hazards in their assigned work areas and enables the team members to participate in resolving those identified issues without fear.

SP2 reported that employees could gain safety hazard recognition expertise through training and knowledge accumulated over time. In addition, SP2 stated that employees gain safety hazard recognition expertise when actively listening to team members, providing the tools the team members need to perform their tasks safely, and removing the tools that hinder safe working conditions. SP2 stated that "after these safety hazards and concerns have been identified and evaluated, the next thing is to find a way to incorporate the suggestions and eliminate the concerns. Providing immediate feedback tells the team members their participation is appreciated."

SP3 agreed with SP2 in that following up with employees is very important because, without feedback from the employees, team members' involvement disappears. SP3 noted that actively involving the team members in the investigation of accidents, near misses, safety incidents, and the general health environment is crucial to a good safety program. SP3 stated that

An engaged team member is a team player that is fully committed to performing their tasks safely and participating in the success of the organization. Being engaged means the team members come to work focused, committed to doing the tasks the safe way, and actively offering their suggestions on how to improve their work environment for themselves and their fellow team members.

SP4 reported that employee participation makes SP4's safety program unique. When leaders give the employees the opportunity to contribute to the development of their safety practices, employees are more prone to identify with these practices and make the practices their own. SP4 stated that

Instilling a sense of ownership in the team members gives the organization the potential to fully engage their workforce, turning individuals into team members that know they are appreciated and the organization respects their input. SP4 continued the team members are more engaged when their input is appreciated.

SP5 believed that it is crucial to the success of an organization's efforts to reduce injuries to involve the team members in safety investigations and in the development of the safety program. SP5 reported that engagement is the piece of the puzzle that results in the selection of the level the team member is going to commit to successfully achieve the organizational mission. SP5 stated that

Engagement is the driver of a team members work performance, managers can begin improving team members' commitment by identifying and implementing opportunities to raise the level of transparency in the safety arena. Team member engagement in the construction business is closely tied to the industry's bottom line. Team member engagement results in a better quality of life for team member and the communities that they live in by reducing the number of team member lives that are lost.

SP6 reported that creating a culture in which employees take safety issues seriously is a way of engaging the team members. SP6 stated that "getting the team

members to share personal incidents where they contributed to a safety improvement or where a safety incident was avoided enables the team members to make safety personal.

Taking safety personal results in an engaged workforce."

Correlation to the literature. The findings from this study align with the literature. Wacher and Yorio (2014) argued that managers can use safety management systems to predict worker engagement levels; thus, leaders see worker engagement levels as mediators between the safety management system and the safety performance outcomes. Employee engagement is a major factor that affects safety performance in either a positive or negative way (Wu et al., 2016). Heinrich (1959) found communication strategies are useful tools when building support systems that created employee engagement. Without an effective way of communicating safety expectations, managers risk losing employee focus and may compromise an employee's ability to engage other employees (Wacher & Yorio, 2014). Federal Transit Administrators (2017) claimed that senior managers must set expectations that provide direction to help employees receive the skills required to achieve the expectations. Wu et al. (2016) suggested that managers and employees must share a comprehensive understanding of processes, purposes, and goals used to identify hazards in the workplace.

Correlation to the conceptual framework. The conceptual framework for this study is the SMSCM, which aligns with the employee engagement theme that emerged in this study. Wachter and Yorio (2014) contended that managers use safety management systems and employee engagement to reduce the barriers managers face during the enforcement of safety systems and the safety performance indicators.

Heinrich (1959) found that workplace injuries and fatalities are preventable if managers encourage and enforce behavioral changes. The findings of the study align with the SMSCM in that empowering the employees through employee engagement enables construction managers to improve organizational safety performance. According to Wu et al. (2016), employee engagement has a two-way effect on an organization's safety performance. If the employee engagement is conducted incorrectly, the performance results may not achieve the expected performance level (Wu et al, 2016).

Federal Transit Administrators (2017) reported that the use of safety management systems allows managers to use their authority to encourage safety compliance with the organization's safety policies and rules by motivating the employees to make safety decisions. Federal Transit Administrators contended that leaders need to include a discussion of health and safety issues in every meeting. When leaders praise good safety behavior and use unsafe behavior as an opportunity to improve the organizational safety performance, safety incidents decrease (Federal Transit Administration, 2017).

Small business managers would benefit from understanding the manner in which workplace health and safety management systems can significantly affect their competitive advantage (Sunindijo, 2015). When employees feel their workplace leaders care about their health and safety, employees are more likely to remain with the organization (Amponsah-Tawiah & Mensah, 2016). The safety system assesses the hazards in the workplace and monitors, evaluates, investigates, educates, and oversees the implementation of the safety policies used to control or eliminate the hazards in the mining industry (Bahn, 2014).

Applications to Professional Practice

The findings of the study are potentially meaningful to professional practice in many ways. The focus of the study was to explore strategies small construction business managers use to reduce safety incidents in their organizations in Northwest Ohio. As a result of analyzing data collected, four themes emerged that may contribute to the success in reducing safety incidents in this organization.

Heinrich (1959) found that workplace injuries and fatalities were preventable if managers encourage and enforce behavioral changes. The findings of the study aligned with the SMSCM in that by empowering the employees through employee engagement, construction managers could improve organizational safety performance. Wachter and Yorio (2014) suggested that effective safety management systems that promote organizational performance should include employee engagement.

A study finding relates to organizational accountability. Organizations that strive for increased safety accountability display the highest level of safety performance. In this type of organization, everyone understands that everyone is accountable for safety. The senior managers expect suppliers and contract workers to practice the same level of safety expectations that the senior managers demand from the regular employees. By using a safety management system approach, organizations eliminate the challenges that prevent them from achieving the level of safety accountability that empowers the employees to own the safety of their work environment (Heinrich, 1959).

Another emerging theme from the study findings relates to safety training.

According to Burke et al. (2006), worker safety and health training improves worker

safety knowledge and reduces workplace safety incidents. The study findings have implications that management systems enabled employees to gain access to safety training. Furthermore, safety training enhanced the employees' ability to recognize and identify safety hazards in the workplace. Heinrich (1959) contended that safety training and the proper personal equipment could prevent many of the common workplace hazards.

Finally, the study findings confirmed that the importance of senior management safety culture commitment. Skeepers and Mbohwa (2015) conducted a study in South Africa and found that senior leadership visibility and behavior affect the safety culture on construction sites. Skeepers and Mbohwa noted that safety performance on construction worksites improved with management leadership and a positive safety culture.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include a safe and healthy workplace that protects workers from injuries and fatalities. Reducing the burden that impact families and communities related to occupational safety incidents is critical. The study may also contribute to positive social change, as small construction business managers reading the study could understand the need to provide training for all employees on the awareness of safety hazards and the reduction of safety incidents at work and in the communities.

The study findings that emerged reinforced the premise that safe worksites not only reduce safety incidents and fatalities but promote successful, vibrant lives and healthy communities as well. Employees suffering a disabling injury could lose 40% of

their income over 5 years. Families can lose even more because of the increased stress, conflicts, and divorce associated with occupational injury and illness. As presented in the study findings, all the participants agreed that management commitment, safety training, accountability, and employee engagement help reduce safety incidents. Managers that actively support their safety systems have fewer injuries and safer work environments. Safe work environments improve employee morale, which often leads to increased productivity and better service.

Recommendation for Action

I am personally committed to sharing the results of the study with small construction business managers as it relates to the construction industry's safety practices. The managers in the construction industry play a significant role in the reduction of safety incidents in their industry. Senior construction managers are encouraged to stress their commitment to build a consistent safety program. Construction organizations must invest in the proper resources to support the development of a safety culture. Proper resources include quality personal protection equipment, expert safety training, and safety policies and procedures. Study participants revealed that employees should be responsible for their safety. Using safety management systems enable the employees to be responsible and accountable for their safety and the safety of their coworkers. The more employees understand and take ownership of their construction site's safety initiatives, the more the employees will embrace the safety policies.

Recommendations for Further Research

I recognized several research limitations and new areas for further study regarding strategies to reduce safety incidents on construction sites. I used the *limitations* subsection to record the potential weaknesses of the study, which were not in my control as the researcher. There may be unknown conditions or workplace cultures that could insert bias into the responses of the participants.

I would recommend that researchers conduct further studies to explore issues not covered in the study. One recommendation for further study is the inclusion of the manner in which union involvement affects safety practices on construction worksites. Another recommendation is that researchers expand the research domain to determine whether the themes that emerged from this study mirror other business sectors in other locations. A final recommendation for further research is the assessment of the workers' perceptions of the safety culture on construction worksites.

Reflections

The techniques for health and safety management Heinrich created in 1959 are relevant today in health and safety programs and systems. Heinrich's (1959) techniques include senior management commitment, close supervision, safety rules, employee education through training, incident investigation, and hazard identification. Findings from this study became informative at a time when construction business managers are seeking strategies to reduce safety incidents on construction worksites. Prior to conducting this research, I had no predetermined concepts concerning construction safety. As the researcher for the study, I conducted this study in a professional, ethical,

and unbiased manner I depended solely on the data collected and analyses conducted to answer the overarching research question for this study.

During the data collection period, I was careful to collect data in an unbiased manner and to emphasize the mission of the researcher, while doing my professional and personal best to make the participants feel comfortable. The construction business managers were gracious and helpful in sharing their wide personal and professional experiences. During my data analysis process, I cautiously scrutinized the multiple types of data to identify themes, being careful to bracket any potential personal biases.

The study findings resulting from data analyses revealed a clear understanding of the phenomenon under investigation to answer the research question. I felt humbled by the outcome of the research and gained an enlightened relevant knowledge from the findings of the study. Each one of the participants indicated that the subject of reducing safety incidents in construction was warranted.

Conclusion

Leaders of construction organizations have not traditionally accepted a safety systems approach as critical to providing a safe and healthy environment. A safety system requires managers to construct and support the safety systems within the framework and operating practices of other systems within the organization. I introduced numerous strategies that successful small construction business managers used to reduce safety incidents in their organization, which are (a) senior management safety culture commitment, (b) safety training, (c) accountability, and (d) employee engagement. By

improving a safety environment, construction managers reduce the cost associated with injuries and illnesses and ensure long-term sustainability of their organizations.

References

- Ajator, U. O., Ezezue, A. M., & Agu, N. (2017). Effective hazard control: An imperative for managing health, safety, and environmental challenges of construction projects in Nigeria. *Journal of Scientific and Engineering Research*, *4*, 31-43.

 Retrieved from jsaer.com
- Albert, A., Hallowell, M. R., & Kleiner, B. M. (2014). Emerging strategies for construction safety and health hazard recognition. *Journal of Safety, Health & Environmental Research*, 10, 152-161. Retrieved from http://www.asse.org/
- Almalki, S. (2016). Integrating quantitative and qualitative data in mixed methods research Challenges and benefits. *Journal of Education and Learning*, *5*, 288-296. doi:10.5539/jel.v5n3p288
- Alshenqeeti, H. (2014). Interviewing as a data collection method: A critical review. *English Linguistics Research*, 8, 39-45. doi:10.5430/elr.v3n1p39
- Amponsah-Tawiah, K., & Mensah, J. (2016). Occupational health and safety and organizational commitment: Evidence from the Ghanaian mining industry. *Safety and Health at Work*, 7, 225-230. doi:10.1016/j.shaw.2016.01.002
- Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research:

 Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policies Studies*, *5*, 272-281. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org
- Austin, Z., & Sutton, J. (2014). Qualitative research: Getting started. *Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 67, 436-440. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov

- Awwad, R., El Souki, O., & Jabbour, M. (2016). Construction safety practices and challenges in middle eastern country. *Safety Science*, 83(3), 1-11. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2015.10.016
- Aykac, V. (2014). An application regarding the availability of mind maps in visual art education based on active learning method. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 174, 1859-1866. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.848
- Bahn, S. (2013). Moving from contractor to owner operator: Impact on safety culture: A case study. *Employee Relations*, *35*, 157-172. doi:10.1108/01425451311287853
- Bahrami, N., Soleimani, M., Yaghoabzodeh, A., & Ranjbar, H. (2016). Researcher as an instrument in qualitative research: Challenges and opportunities. *Advances in Nursing & Midwifery*, *25*, 115-184. doi:10.22037/sbmunm.v25i90.11584
- Belmont Report. (1979). Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/index.html
- Blair, E. (2014). Safety interventions: Strategies for effective designs. *Professional Safety*, *59*, 55-59. Retrieved from http://www.asse.org
- Boileau, P. E. (2016). Sustainability and prevention in occupational health and safety. *Industrial Health*, *54*, 293-295. doi:10.2486/indhealth.54-293
- Bonaccio, S., O'Reilly, J., O'Sullivan, S. L., & Chiocchio, F. (2016). Nonverbal behavior and communication in the workplace: A review and an agenda for research. *Journal of Management*, 2(1), 1-31. doi:10.1177/0149206315621146

- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802-1811. doi:10.1177/1049732316654870
- Badun, M. (2017). Costs of occupational injuries and illnesses in Croatia. *Arh Hig Rada Toksikal*, 68, 66-73. doi:10.1515/aiht-2017-68-2899
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2015). *Injuries, illness, and fatalities*. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/iif/
- Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2015). *Census of fatal occupational injuries summary 2015*.

 Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov
- Burke, M. J., Sarpy, S. A., Smith-Crowe, K., Chan-Serafin, S., Salvadore, R. O., & Islam,
 G. (2006). Relative effectiveness of worker safety and health training methods.
 American Journal of Public Health, 96, 315-324. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2004.059840
- Burmeister, E., & Atiken, L. M. (2012). Sample size: How many is enough? *Australian Critical Care*, 25, 271-275. doi:10.1016///j.aucc.2012.07.002
- Buys, C. M., & Shaw, P. L. (2015). Data management practices across an institution:

 Survey and report. *Journal of Librarianship and Scholarly Communications*, *3*(2),

 1-24. doi:10.7710/2162-3309.1225
- Canadian Center for Occupational Health and Safety (2017). *Incident investigation*.

 Retrieved from https://www.ccohs.ca/oshanswers/hsprograms/investig.html
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., Dicenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*, 545-547. doi:10.1188/14.onf.545-547

- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report, 21*, 811-831. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss5/2
- Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA). Safety management systems. Retrieved from https://www.casa.gov.cu/safety-management/standard-
- Center for Construction Research and Training CPWR (2013). *The construction chart book: The U. S. construction industry and its workers.* (5th ed.) Retrieved from http://www.cpwr.com/sites/default/files/main_findings.pdf
- Chen, Y. McCabe, B., & Hyatt, D. (2017). Impact of individual resilience and safety climate on safety performance and psychological stress of construction workers:

 A case study of the Ontario construction industry. *Journal of Safety Research*, 6, 167-176. doi:10.1016/j.jst.2017.02.014
- Chinniah, V. (2015). Analysis and prevention of serious and fatal accidents related to moving parts. *Safety Science*, 75, 163-173. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2015.02.004
- Choudhry, R. M. (2014). Behavior-based safety on construction sites: A case study. *Accident, Analysis, & Prevention, 70*, 14-23. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2014.03.007
- Clayton, A. (2004). A workers' compensation: A background for social security professionals. *Social Security Bulletin, 65,* 4. Retrieved from https://www.ssa.gov
- Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (2009). *Compliance guide*. Retrieved from https://www.dol.gov/compliance/guide/cwhssa.htm

- Cunliffe, A. L., & Alcadipani, R. (2016). The politics of access in fieldwork: Immersion, backstage dramas, and deception. *Organizational Research Methods*, *1*(1), 1-27. doi:10.1177/1094428116639134
- Cunningham, T. R., Guerin, R. J., Keller, B. M., Flynn, M. A., Salgado, C., & Hudson, D. (2018). *Safety Science*, 103, 62-69. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2017.11.001
- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, 21, 19-27. doi:10.7748/nr.21.5.19.e1240
- Dabrowski, A. (2015). An investigation and analysis of safety issues in Polish small construction plants. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Economies*, 21, 498-511. doi:10.1080/10803548.2015.1085206
- Dang, V. H. (2015). A mixed method approach enabling the triangulation technique:

 Case study in Vietnam. *World Journal of Social Science*, 2(2), 1-13.

 doi:10.5430/wjss.v2n2p1
- Daniel, L. (2015). Safety leadership defined within the Australian construction industry.

 *Construction Economics and Building, 15(4), 1-15.

 doi:10.5130/AJCEB.v15i4.4572
- Demirkesen, S., & Arditi, D. (2015). Construction safety personnel's perception of safety training practices. *International Journal of Project Management*, 335, 1160-1169. doi:10.1016.j.ijroman.2015.01.007
- Ding, L. Y., Zhong, B.T., Wu, S., & Luo, H. B. (2016). Construction risk knowledge management in BIM using ontology and semantic web technology. *Safety Science*, 87, 202-213. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2016.04.008

- Doolan, D. M., Winter, J., & Nouredine, S. (2017). Answering research questions using existing data set. *Medical Research Archives*, *5*(9), 1-14. Retrieved from journals.ke-i.org/index.php/mra/article/download/1543/1221/
- Dragano, N., Lunau, T., Eikemo, T. A., Toch-Marquardt, M., van der Wel, K. A., & Bambra, C. (2015). Who knows the risks? A multilevel study of systematic variations in work-related safety knowledge in the European workforce. *Journal of Occupational Environmental Medicine*, 72, 553-557. doi:10.1136/oemed-2014-102402
- Edwards, R., & Holland, J. (2014). *What is qualitative interviewing*. Bloomsberry Academic, New York, NY. Retrieved from eprints.ncrm.ac.uk/3276/1/complete proofs.pdf
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1-4. doi:10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Facey, M., MacEachen, E., Verma, A., & Morales, K. (2017). The everyday functioning of joint health and safety committee in unionized workplaces: A labour perspective. *Policy and Practice in Health and Safety, 15*, 160-173. doi:10.1080/14773996.2017.1341595
- Fair Labor Standards Act. (2016). *Handy reference to the fair labor standards Act*.

 Retrieved from https://www.dol.gov

- Fass, S., Yousef, R., Liginlal, D., & Vyas, P. (2017). Understanding causes of falls and struck-by incidents: What differentiates construction in the Arabian Gulf region.

 Applied Ergonomics, 58, 515-526. doi:10.1016/apergo.2016.05.002
- Federal Aviation Administration. (2016). Safety management system Components.

 Retrieved from https://www.faa.gov
- Federal Aviation Administration. (2013). Safety risk management. Retrieved from https://www.faa.gov/regulations_policies/handbooks_manuals/aviation/risk_mana gement/
- Federal Transit Administration. (2017). How FTA's SMS approach and it's research investments are shaping transit safety. Retrieved from https://www.transit.dot.gov
- Feng, Y. (2013). Effects of safety investment on safety performance of building projects. Safety Science, 59, 28-45. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2013.04.004
- Frieden, T. R. (2013). Government's role in protecting health and safety. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *368*, 1857-1859. doi:10.1056/nejmp1303819
- Fugard, A. J. B., & Potts, H. W. W. (2015). Supporting thinking on sample sizes for thematic analyses: A quantitative tool. *Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 18, 669-684. doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1005453
- Fusch, G. (2014). Qualitative research method Data saturation, member checking, & transcript review. Walden University Power Point.
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.

 The Qualitative Report, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from

 http://www.nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol22/iss9/3/

- Gelling, L. (2016). Qualitative research. *Nursing Standards*, *29*, 43-47. doi:10.7748/ns.29.30.43.e9749
- Georgia Center for Oncology Research and Education (Georgia CORE) (2017). *Clinical Trial eligibility*. Retrieved from https://www.georgiacancerinfo.org
- Giraudo, M., Bena, A., & Costa, G. (2017). Migrant workers in Italy: An analysis of injury risk taking into account occupational characteristics and job tenure. *BMC Public Health*, 17, 351. doi:10.1186/s12889-017-4240-9
- Golovina, O., Teizar, J., & Pradhananga, N. (2016). Heat map generation for predictive safety planning: Preventing struck by and near miss interactions between workers on foot and construction equipment. *Automation in Construction*, 71, 99-115. doi:10.1016/j.autocon.2016.03.008
- Grady, D. C., Cummings, S. R., Rowbotham, M. C., McConnell, M. V., Phil, D., & Kang, G. (2017). Informed consent. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *376*, 856-867. doi:10.1056/nejmra1603773
- Gressard, L. J. (2014). Knowledge management and safety compliance in a high-risk distribution center. *Journal of Safe Health at Work*, *5*, 53-59. doi:10.1016/j.shaw.2014.03.002
- Griffin, M. A., & Curcuruto, M. (2016). Safety climate in organizations. *Annual Review Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, *3*, 191-212. doi:10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-041015-062414
- Grill, M., Pousett, A., Nielsen, K., Grytnes, R., & Torner, M. (2017). Safety leadership at construction site: The importance of rule-oriented and participative leadership.

- Scandinavian Journal of Work environmental Health, 4, 375-384. doi:10.5271/sjweh.3650
- Guo, B. H., Yiu, T. W., & González, V. A. (2015). Identifying behavior patterns of construction safety using system archetypes. *Accident Analysis Prevention*, 80, 125-141. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2015.04.008
- Gunawan, J. (2015). Ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Belitung Nursing Journal*, *I*(1), 10-11. http://belitungraya.org/brp/index.php/bnj/
- Hadi, M. A., & Closs, S. J. (2016). Ensuring rigour and trustworthiness of qualitative research in clinical pharmacy. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 38, 641-646. doi:10.1007/s11096-015-0237-6
- Haight, J. M., Yorio, P., Rost, K. A., & Wilmer, D. R. (2014). Safety management systems: Comparing content & impact. *Professional Safety*. Retrieved from https://www.asse.org
- Harrison, J., & Dawson, L. (2016). Occupational health: Meeting the challenges of the next 20 years. *Safety and Health at Work*, 7, 143-149.doi:10.1016/j.shaw.2015.12.004
- Harrison, H., Birks, M., Franklin, R., & Mills, J. (2017). Case study research:

 Foundations and methodological orientations. *Quality Social Research*, *18*(1), 19.

 Retrieved from http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs1701195.
- Hashim, I. N., & Chileshe, N. (2012). Major challenges in managing multiple project environment (MPE) in Australia's construction industry. *Journal of Engineering, Design, and Technology, 10*(1), 72-92. doi:10.1108/17260531211211890

- Heinrich, H. W. (1959). *Industrial accident prevention: A scientific approach*. 4th ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Hemkens, L. G., Benchimol, E. I., Langan, S. M., Briel, M., Kasenda, B., Jannuel, J. M., Herrett, E. & Van Elm, E. (2016). The Reporting of studies using routinely collected health data was insufficient. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 79, 104-111. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.06.005
- Heydon, G., & Powell, A. (2016). Written response interview protocols: An innovative approach to confidential reporting and victim interviewing in sexual assault investigations. *International Journal of Research and Policy*, 11(8), 1-16. doi:10.1080/10439463.2016.1187146
- Hi, Q., Dong, S., Rose, T., Li, H., Yin, Q., & Cao, D. (2016). Systematic impact of institutional pressures on safety climate in the construction industry. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 93, 230-239. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2015.11.034
- Hoffmeister, K., Gibbons, A. M., Johnson, S. K., Cigularov, K. P., Chen, P. Y., & Rosecrance, J. C. (2014). The differential effects of transformational leadership facets on employee safety. *Safety Science*, *62*, 68-78. doi:10.1016/j.scci.2013.07.004
- Hofisi, C., Hofisi, M., Mago, S. (2014). Critiquing interviewing as a data collection method. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 6(16), 60-64. doi:10.5901/mjss.2014.v5nn16p60

- Hola, B., & Szostak, M. (2014). Analysis of the development of accident situations in the construction industry. *Procedia Engineering*, 91, 429-434.doi:10.1016.proeng.2014.12.088
- Hosseinian, H. H., & Torghabeh, Z. J. (2012). Major theories of construction accident causation models: A literature review. *International Journal of Advances in Engineering & Technology*, 4(2), 53-66. doi:101.1.668.8949
- Human Research Protection Program (2017). *Best practices for data analysis of confidential data*. Research Integrity and Assurance. Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/
- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014) Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 9(1), 1-12. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.23606
- International Civil Aviation Organization (2013). Safety management manual 3rd. ed.

 Retrieved from

 https://www.icaoint/safetymanagement/documents/doc.9859.3rd%20edition.alltex
 t.en.pdf
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, J. A. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interview tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(6), 1-10. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol17/iss42/3
- Janackovic, G. L., Savic, S. M., & Stankovic (2013). Selection and ranking of occupational safety indicators based on fuzzy AHP: A case study in road

- construction companies. *South African Journal of Industrial Engineering, 24,* 175-189.
- Jazayeri, E., & Dadi, G. B. (2017). Construction safety management systems and methods of safety performance measurement: A review. *Journal of Safety Engineering*, 6(2), 15-28. doi:10.5923/j.safety.20170602.01
- Johnson, B. (2014). Ethical issues in shadowing research. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 9, 21-40. doi:10.1108/QROM-09-2012-1099
- Johnson, M., O'Hara, R., Hirst, E., Weyman, A., Turner, J., Mason, S., Quinn, T., Shewan, J., & Sirewardena, A. N. (2017). Multiple triangulation and collaborative research using qualitative methods to explore decision making in pre-hospital emergency care. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *17*(11), 1-11. doi:10.1186/s12874-017-0290-z
- Jong, Y. O., & Jung, C. K. (2015). The development of interview techniques in language studies: Facilitating the researcher's views on interactive encounters. *English Language Teaching*, *8*, 30-39. doi:10.5539/elt.v8n7p30
- Jorgensen, K. (2016). Prevention of simple accidents at work with major consequences. *Safety Science*, 81, 48-58. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2015.01.017
- Jung, J., & Makowsky, M. D. (2014). The determinants of federal and state enforcement of workplace safety regulations: OSHA inspections 1990-2010. *Journal of Regulatory Economics*, 45(1), 1-33. doi:10.1007/s11149-013-9229-4

- Karanikas, N. (2017). Evaluating the horizontal alignment of safety management activities through cross-reference data from safety audits, meetings, and investigations. *Safety Sciences*, *98*(5), 37-49. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2017.05.008
- Kasirossafar, M. & Shakbodaghlou, F. (2015). Construction design: Its role in incident prevention. *Professional Safety*, 60(8), 1-5. Retrieved from https://www.onepetro.org
- Kendall, S., & Halliday, L. E. (2014). Undertaking ethical qualitative research in public health: Are current ethical processes sufficient? *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *38*, 306-310. doi:10.1111/1753-6405.12250
- Khosravi, Y., Asillian-Mahabadi, H., Hauzadeh, E., Hassanzadek-Rangi, N., Bastani, H., & Behzadan, A. H. (2014). Factor influencing unsafe behaviors and accidents on construction sites: A review. *International Occupational Safety and Ergonomics*, 20, 111-125. doi:10.1080/10803548.2014.11077023
- Kim, H., Cavanaugh, J. E., Dallas, T. A., & Fore, S. A. (2014). Model selection criteria for overdispersed data and their application to the characterization of a host-parasite relationship. *Environmental and Ecological Statistics*, *21*, 329-350. doi:10.1007/s10651-013-0257-0
- Kim, Y., Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Creating a culture of prevention in occupational safety and health practice. *Safety and Health at Work*, 7, 89-96. doi:10.1016/j.shaw.2016.02.002
- Komic, D., Marusic, S. L., & Marusic, A. (2015). Research integrity and research ethics in professional codes of ethics: Survey of terminology used by professional

- organizations across research disciplines. *PloS ONE, 10*(7), 1-10. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0133662
- Kondowe, C., & Booyens, M. (2014). A student's experience of gaining access for qualitative research: Notes from practice. *Social Work*, *50*(1), 1-17. doi:10.15270////50-1-17
- Kotob, F., Styger, L. E. J., & Richardson, L. P. (2016). Exploring mind mapping techniques to analyse complex case study data. *Australian Academy of Business and Economics Review, 2,* 244-262. Retrieved from http://www.aaber.com.au/index.php/AABER/article/view/29
- Lamb, K. A., Backhouse, M. R., & Adderly, V. J. (2016). A qualitative study of factors impacting upon the recruitment of participants to research studies in wound care The community nurses perspective. *Journal of Tissue Vitality*, 25, 185-188. doi:10.1016/j.jtv.2016.03.004
- Lebeau, M., Duguay, P., & Boucher, A. (2014). Costs of occupational injuries and diseases in Quebec. *Journal of Safety Research*, *50*, 89-98. doi:10.1016/jsr.2014.04.002
- Lee, W. H., Tse, K. H. D., & Ma, W. K. P. (2016). Applied technologies in minimizing accidents in construction industry. *Procedia Environmental Sciences*, *36*, 54-56. doi:10.1016/j.proenv.2016.09.010
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, *4*, 324-327. doi:10.4103/2249-4863.161306

- Leveson, N. (2013). The drawbacks in using the term system of systems. *Journal of Biomedical Instrumentation & Technology, 47,* 115-118. doi:10.2345/0899-8205-47.2.115
- Liberty Mutual Research Institute for Safety. (2017). *Liberty mutual workplace safety index*. Retrieved from https://lmi.co/wsi
- Lingard, L. (2015). The art of limitations. *Perspectives on Medical Education, 4*, 136-137. doi:10.1007/s40037-015-0181-0
- Liu, L. (2016). Using generic inductive approach in qualitative educational research: A case study analysis. *Journal of Education and Learning*, *5*, 129-135. doi:10.5539/jel.v5n2p129
- Lo, C. O. (2014). Enhancing groundedness in realist grounded theory research.

 *Qualitative Psychology, 1, 61-76. doi:10.1037/qup0000001
- Love, P. E. D. (2016). Systems thinking in workplace safety and health in construction:

 Bridging the gap between theory and practice. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*,

 93, 223-229. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2016.05.026
- Machfudiyanto, R. A., Latief, Y., Arifuddin, R. & Yogiswana, Y. (2017). Identification of safety culture dimension based on the implementation of OSH management system in construction company. *Science Direct*, *171*, 405-412. doi:10.1016/proeng.2017.01.350
- MacLaury, J. (1981). *The job safety law of 1970: Its passage was perilous*. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/1981/03/art2full.pdf

- Makrakis, V., & Kostoulas-Makrakis, N. (2016). Bridging the qualitative—quantitative divide: Experiences from conducting a mixed methods evaluation in the RUCAS programme. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *54*, 144–151. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2015.07.008
- Man, S. S., Chan, A. H. S., & Wong, H. M. (2017). Risk-taking behaviors of Hong Kong construction workers A thematic study. *Safety Science*, *98*, 25-36. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2017.05.004
- Mannay, D., & Morgan, M. (2015). Doing ethnography or applying a qualitative technique? Reflections from the waiting field. *Qualitative Research*, *15*, 166-182. doi:10.1177/1468794113517391
- Manzano, A. (2016). The craft of interviewing I realist evaluation. *Evaluation*, 22, 342-36-. doi:10.1177/1356389016638615
- Martin, H., & Lewis, T. M. (2014). Pinpointing safety leadership factors for safe construction sites in Trinidad and Tobago. *Journal of Construction Engineering* and Management, 140(2), 10. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0000795
- Mathias, T. (2016). What's your strategy for superior safety performance. Retrieved from http://www.ishn.com/articles/104091-whats-your-strategy-for-superior-safety-performance
- Mauceri, S. (2014). Mixed strategies for improving data quality: The contribution of qualitative procedures to survey research. *Quality and Quantity, 48*, 2790-2793. doi:10.1007/s11135-013-9923-4

- Melville, A., & Hincks, D. (2016). Conducting sensitive interviews: A review of reflections. *Law and Method*, *I*(1), 1-26. doi:10.5553.rem/.000015
- Michaels, D. (2012). OSHA does not kill jobs; it helps prevent job from killing workers. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 55(11), 1-3. doi:10.1002/ajim.22122
- Michaels, D. (2015). Adding inequality to injury: The costs of failing to protect workers on the job. OSHA. Retrieved from https://www.dol.gov/osha/report/20150304-inequality.pdf
- Midwest Economic Policy Institute. (2017). *Construction fatalities cost the United States*\$5 billion per year. Retrieved from https://midwestepi.org
- Mine Health and Safety Act. (1977). Retrieved from https://www.fmshrc.gov/content/federal-mine-safety-and-health-act-1977
- Misiurek, K., & Misiurek, B. (2017). Methodology of improving occupational safety in the construction industry on the basis of the TWI program. *Safety Science*, *92*, 225-231. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2016.10.017
- Mohd Kamar, I. F., Lop, N. S., Mat Selleh, N., Mamter, S., Sukaimi, H. A. (2014).

 Contractor's awareness on occupational safety and management systems in construction industry. E3S Web of Conferences, 3, (3), 1-6.

 doi:10.1051/e3sconf/20140301019
- Moon, K., T. D. Brewer, S. R. Januchowski-Hartley, V. M. Adams, and D. A. Blackman (2016). A guideline to improve qualitative social science publishing in ecology and conservation journals. *Ecology and Society 21*, 17. doi.org/10.5751/ES-08663-210317

- Mosly, I. (2016). The integration of workers safety and health into sustainable construction projects: A review. Advances in safety management and human Factors, 491, 223-230. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-41929-9_21
- Ndanu, M. C., & Sysbba, M. J. (2015). Mixed methods research: The hidden cracks of the triangulation design. *General Education Journal*, *4*, 46-67. Retrieved from http://www.mmu.ac.tz/papers/article12.pdf
- Neale, J. (2016). Iterative categorization (IC): A systematic technique for analyzing qualitative data. *Society for the Study of Addiction*, 111, 1096-1106. doi:10.1111/add.13314
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. (2016). *About NIOSH*. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/about
- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. (2015). Overlapping vulnerabilities: The occupational safety and health of young workers in small construction firms. *National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, DDHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 2015-*178. Retrieved from http://www.asse.org/assets/1/7/NIOSHreport_FinalDraft.pdf
- Nidhu, S. P., & Abinaya, B. (2017). Evaluating safety management practices in construction industry by using SPSS software. *SSRG International Journal of Civil Engineering, Special Issue*, 24-28. Retrieved from www.internationaljournalssgr.org
- Nielson, K. (2014). Improving culture through the health and safety organization: A case study. *Journal of Safety Research*, 48, 7-17. doi:10.1016/j.jsr.2013.10.003

- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18(2), 1-34. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Noain-Sanchez, A. (2016). Privacy by default and active informed consent by layer:

 Essential measures to protect ICT user's privacy. *Journal of Information,*Communication, and Ethics in Society, 14, 124-138. doi:10.1108/JICES-10-2014-0040
- Nordlof, H., Wijik, K., & Westergren, K. E. (2015). Perception of work environment priorities: Are there any differences by company size? An ecological study. *Work*, 52, 697-706. doi:10.3233/work-152123
- O'Conner, T., Flynn, M. M., Weinstock, D., & Zanoni, J. (2014). Occupational safety and health education and training for underserved populations. *New Solutions*, *24*, 83-106. doi:10.2190/ns.24.1.d
- O'Keeffe, J., Buytaert, W., Mijic, A., Brozovic, N., & Sinha, R. (2016). The use of semi structured interviews for the characterization of farmer irrigation practices.

 *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 20, 1911-1924. doi:10.5194/hess-20-1911-2016
- Okoye, P.U., & Okolie, K.C. (2014). Exploratory study of the cost of health and safety performance of building contractors in South- East Nigeria. *British Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 2(1), 21-33. Retrieved from https://www.ea.journals.org
- O'Leary, Z. (2014). *The essential guide to doing your research project*. Sage Publications, Ltd. 3rd ed.

- Oswald, D., Smith, S., & Sherrratt, F. (2015). Accident investigation on a large construction project: An ethnographic case study. *Procedia Manufacturing*, *3*, 788-1795. doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.217
- Oltmann, S. M., (2016). Qualitative interviews: A methodological discussion of interviews and respondents context. *Forum Qualitative Social Research*, *17*, Art. 15. doi:10.17169/fqs-17.2.2551
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J. & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretation of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research. *International Journal of Education, 6*, 183-247. doi:10.5296/ije.v6il.4399
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Denham, M. (2015). Qualitative data analysis techniques. *Oxford Bibliographies*. doi:10.1093/obo/9780199756810-0078
- Ose, S. O. (2016). Using excel and word to structure qualitative data. *Journal of Applied Social Science*, 10, 147-162. doi:10.1177/1936724416664948
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration. (ND). Business case for safety and health: Costs. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration. (2014). *OSHA at a glance*. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration. (2016). Commonly used statistics: *Constructions' fatal four*. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration. (2016). All about OSHA. *U. S.**Department of Labor OSHA. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov

- Occupational Safety and Health Administration. (2016). *Managing effective safety* accountability systems. Retrieved from https://www.oshatrain.org
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration. (2017). *Enforcement cases with initial*penalties above \$40,000. Retrieved from

 https://www.osha.gov/topcases/bystate.html
- Occupational Safety and Health Administration, (2017). *National safety stand-down to* prevent falls in construction. Retrieved from https://www.osha.gov
- Ozmec, M. N., Karlsen, I. L., Kines, P., Andersen, L. P. S., & Nielsen, K. J. (2015).

 Negotiating safety practice in small construction Companies. *Safety Science*, 71, 275-281. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2014.03.016
- Padilla-Diaz, M. (2015. Phenomenology in educational qualitative research: Philosophy as science or philosophical science? *International Journal of Educational Excellence*, 1, 101-110. Retrieved from www.suagm.edu/umet/ijee/pdf/1 2/padilla diaz ijee 1 2 101-110.pdf
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green. C. A., Wisdom, J. P., & Duan, N. (2015).
 Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed
 implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Paradis, E., O'Brien, B., Nimmon, L., Bandiera, G., & Martimianakis, M. A. (2016).

 Design: Selection of data collection methods. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 8, 263-264. doi:10.4300/jgme-d-16-00098.1

- Park, P., Jeong, H., Hong, S., Park, J. T., Kim, D. S., Kim, J., & Kim, H. J. (2013).
 Effects of health and safety problem recognition on small business facility investment. *Annuals of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 25, 26. doi:10.1186/2052-4374-25-26
- Parker, D., Yamin, S. C., Xi, M., Brosseau, L., Robert, G., Most, I. G., & Stanley, R. (2016). Findings from the national machine-guarding program A small business intervention: Machine safety. *Journal of occupational & Environmental Medicine*, 58, 885-891. doi:10.1097/jom.0000000000000836.
- Paulasso, M. (2013). Ten simple rules for writing a literature review. *PLoS*Computational Biology, 9(7), e1003149. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003149
- Picchio, M., & Van Ours, J. C. (2017). Temporary jobs and the severity of workplace accidents. *Journal of Safety Research*, *61*, 41-51. doi:10.1016/j.jsr.2017.02.004
- Pilbeam, C., Doherty, N., Davidson, R., & Denyer, D. (2016). Safety leadership practices for organizational safety compliance: Developing a research agenda from a review of the literature. *Safety Science*, 86, 110-121. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2016.02.015
- Pillay, M. (2015). Accident causation, prevention, and safety management: A review of the state-of-the-art. *Procedia Manufacturing*, *3*, 1838-1845. doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.224
- Ponelis, S. R. (2015). Using interpretive qualitative case studies for exploratory research in doctoral studies: A case of Information Systems research in small and medium

- enterprises. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 10, 535-550. Retrieved from http://ijds.org
- Provan, D. J., Dekker, S. A., & Rae, A. J. (2017). Bureaucracy, influence, and beliefs: A literature review of the factors shaping the role of a safety professional. *Safety Professional. Safety Science*, *98*, 98-112. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2017.06.006
- Quinney, L., Dwyer, T., & Chapman, Y. (2016). Who, where, and how of interviewing peers: Implications for a phenomenological study. *Sage Open Journal*, *9*(6), 1010. doi:10.1177/21582440116659688
- Raheem, A. A., & Hinze, J. W. (2014). Disparity between construction safety standards:

 A global analysis. *Safety Science*, 70, 276-287. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2014.06.012
- Rahman, S. (2017). The advantages and disadvantages of using qualitative and quantitative approaches and methods in language testing and assessment research:

 A literature review. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 6(1), 1-11.

 doi:10.5539/jel.v6nl102
- Redlich-Amirav, D. & Higginbottom, G. (2014). Newemerging technologies in qualitative research. The Qualitative Report, 19(26), 1-14. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/iss26/3
- Rohani, J. M., Johari, M. F., Harun, W., Hamid, W., Atan, H., Adeyei, A. J., & Udiz, A. (2015). Occupational accident cost model validation using confirmatory factor analysis. *Science Direct*, *2*, 291-295. doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.051

- Rohlman, D. S., Parish, M., Elliot, D. L., Hanson, G., & Perrin, N. (2016). Addressing younger worker's needs: Promoting the U through safety and health (PUSH) trials outcomes. *Healthcare*, *4*, 55. doi:10.3390/healthcare4030055
- Rosner, D., & Markowitz, G. (2016). Educate the individual to a sane appreciation of the risk. *American Journal of Public Health, 106*(1), 28-35. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302912
- Rossetto, K. R. (2014). Qualitative research interviews. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *31*, 482-489. doi:10.1177/0265407514522892
- Rudnick, A. (2014). A philosophical analysis of the general methodology of qualitative research: A critical rationalist perspective. *Health Care Analysis*, *22*, 245-254. doi:10.1007/s10728-012-0212-5
- Ryan, F., Coughlan, M., & Cronin, P. (2009). Research methodology series interviewing in qualitative research: The one-to-one interview. *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, *16*, 309-313. doi:10.12968/ijtr.2009.16.6.42433
- Sanjari, M. Bahramnezhad, F., Formane, F. K., Shoghi, M., & Cheraghi, M. A. (2014).

 Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: The necessity to develop specific guidelines. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of medicine*, *7*, *14*.

 Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4263394/
- Sauter, S. L. (2013). Integrative approaches to safeguarding the health and safety of workers. *Industrial Health*, *51*, 559-561. doi:10.2486/indhealth.MS5106ED

- Shamsi, M., Pariani, A., Shams, M., & Soleymani-nejad, M. (2016). Persuasion to use protective equipment in constructing subway stations: Application of social marketing. *Injury Prevention*, *22*, 149-152. doi:10.1136/injuryprev-2014-041461
- Shaw, J. A., & DeForge, R. T. (2014). Qualitative inquiry and the debate between hermeneutics and critical theory. *Qualitative Health Research*, *24*, 1567-1580. doi:10.1177/1049732314549028
- Simon, M. (2011). *Dissertation and scholarly research: Recipes for success*. Retrieved from http://dissertationrecipes.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/04/AssumptionslimitationsdelimitationsX.pdf
- Simpson, A., & Quigley, C. F. (2016). Member checking process with adolescent students: Not just reading a transcript. *The Qualitative Report*, *21*, 377-392. Retrieved from http://nsuworks,nova,edu.tqr/vol21/1ss2/12
- Sinclair, R. R., & Cunningham, T. R. (2014). Safety activities in small businesses. *Safety Science*, *64*, 32-38. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2013.11.022
- Shen, Y., Ju, Chuanjing, Koh, T. Y., Rowlinson, S., & Bridge, A. J. (2017). The impact of transformational leadership on safety climate and individual safety behavior on construction sites. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 45, 45. doi:10.3390/ijerph1401005
- Shneerson, C. L., & Gale, N. K. (2015). Using mixed methods to identify and answer clinically relevant research questions. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 845–856. doi:10.1177/1049732315580107

- Skeepers, N. C., & Mbohwa, C. (2015). A study on the leadership behaviot, safety leadership, and safety performance in the construction industry in South Africa. *Industrial Engineering and Service Science*, 11, 10-16.

 doi:1016/j.promfg.2015.11.08
- Small Business Administration. (2014). *Small business profile*. Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/united_states.pdf
- Small Business Regulatory Enforcement Fairness Act 1966. (2015). *Regulations and policies*. Retrieved from https://www.faa.gov/regulations_policies/rulemaking/sbre_act/
- Sorsa, M. A., Kukkala, I., & Astedt-Kurki, P. (2015). Bracketing as a skill in conducting unstructured qualitative interviews. *Nurse Researcher*, *22*, 8-12. doi:10.7748/nr.22.4.8.e1317
- Sousa, V., Almeida, N. M., & Dias, L. A. (2014). Risk-based management of occupational safety and health in the construction industry-Part one background knowledge. *Safety Science*, 66, 75-86. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2014.02.008
- Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Suen, L. W., Huang, H., & Lee, H. (2014). A comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *Hu Za Zhi, 6,* 105-111. doi:10.6224/jn.61.3.105
- Sumen, O. O., & Calisici, H. (2015). Pre-service teachers mind maps and opinions on STEM education implemented in an environmental literacy course. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, *16*, 459-476. doi:10.12738/estp.2016.20166

- Sunindijo, R. Y. (2016). Improving safety among small organizations in the construction industry: Key barriers and improvement strategies. *Procedia Engineering*, *125*, 109-116. doi:10.1016/j.proeng.2015.11.017
- Tariq, S., & Woodman, J. (2015). Using mixed methods in health research. *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine Short Report*, 4(6), 1-8.
 doi:10.1177/204533313479197.
- Tickle, S. (2017). Ethnographic research with young people: Methods and rapport.

 *Qualitative Research Journal, 17, 66-76. doi:10.1108/qrj-10-2016-0059
- Tran, V. T., Porcher, R., Tran, V. C., & Ravaud, P. (2017). Predicting data saturation in qualitative surveys with mathematical models from ecological research. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 82, 71-78. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.10.001
- Trefry, R. C. (2017). *Research methods information: Choosing a research design*.

 American Public University System. Retrieved from

 http://apus.libguides.com/research methods guide/research methods design
- Tucker, S., Diekrage, D., Turner, N., & Killaway, E. K. (2014). Work-related injury underreporting among young workers: Prevalence, gender differences, and explanations for underreporting. *Journal of Safety Research*, *50*, 67-73. doi:10.1016/j.jsr.2014.04.001
- University of Delaware Research (2015). Data storage & retention-Guidance on human subject research data. Retrieved from www.1.udel.edu/research/preparing/datastorage.html

- Unnikrishnan, S., Ishal, R., Singh, A., & Kimkar, I. M. (2015). Safety management practices in small and medium enterprises in India. *Journal of Safety and Health at Work*, 6, 46-55. doi:10.1016/j.shaw.2014.10.006
- Van der Molen, H. F, & Frings-Dresen, M.H.W. (2014). Strategies to reduce safety violations for working from heights in construction companies: Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *PubMed*, *14*, 540-541. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-541
- Vasconcelos, B., & Barkokebas, B. J. (2015). The causes of work place accidents and their relation to construction equipment design. *Procedia Manufacturing*, *3*, 4392-4399. doi:10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.437
- Wachter, J. K., & Yorio, P. L. (2014). A system of safety management practices and worker engagement for reducing and preventing accidents: An empirical and theoretical investigation. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 68, 117-130. doi:10.1016/j.aap.2013.07.029
- Wilson, A. D., Onweuegbuzie, A. J., & Manning, L. P. (2016). Using depth-interviews to collect qualitative data. *The Qualitative Report*, *21*, 1549-1573. Retrieved from http://insuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/1559/1
- Wu, Y. P., Thompson, D., Arion, K. J., McQuaid, E. L., & Deatrick, J. A. (2016).Commentary: Writing and evaluating qualitative research reports. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 41, 493-505. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsw032

- Wu, C., Wang, F., Zou, P.X.W., & Fang, D. (2016). How safety leadership works among owners, contractors, and subcontractors in construction projects. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34, 785-805. doi:10.1016/j.jproman.2016.02.013
- Yauch, C. A., & Steudel, H. J. (2003) Complementary Use of Qualitative and Quantitative Cultural Assessment Methods. *Organizational research methods*, 6, 465-481. doi:10.1177/1094422228103257362.
- Yeasmin, S., & Rahman, K. F. (2012). Triangulation research method as the tool of social science research. *BUP Journal*, *1*, 154-161. Retrieved from www.bup.edu.bd/journal/154-163.pdf
- Yilmaz, F. (2015). Monitoring and analysis of construction site accidents by using accident management systems in Turkey. *Journal of Sustainable Development*, 8, 57. doi:10.5539/jsd.v8n2p57
- Yin, R. (2009). Case study research: Design and methods. Sage Publications Ltd:

 London
- Yin, R. (2014). *Qualitative research from start to finish* (5th ed.). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Yorio, P. L., Willmer, D. R., & Moore, S. M. (2014). Health and safety management systems through a multilevel and strategic management perspective: Theoretical and empirical consideration. *Safety Science*, 72, 221-228. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2014.09.011

- Zhao, J., Joas, R., Abel, J., Marques, T., & Suikkanen, J. (2013). Process safety challenges for SMEs in China. *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, *26*, 880-886. doi:10.1016/j.jlp.2012.09.003
- Zhou, L. & Baptisa, N. M. (2013). Doing qualitative research in Chinese context:

 Lessons learned from conducting interviews in a Chinese health care
 environment. *Library Hi Tech*, *31*, 419-434. doi:10.1108/LHT-11-2012-0104
- Zou, P. X. W., Sunindijo, R. Y., & Dainty, A. R. J. (2014). A mixed methods research design for bridging the gap between research and practice in construction safety.
 Safety Science, 70, 316-326. doi:10.1016/j.ssi.2014.07.005

Appendix A: Interview Questions

Institution:	
Interviewee:	
Introductions:	
Beginning Comments:	
Interview Questions	
1. What strategies did you use to reduce safety incidents?	

- 2. How did you identify and evaluate safety hazards?
- 3. How do you and your managers correct deviations from safety rules?
- 4. What makes your safety program different from other small construction businesses?
- 5. What additional information related to safety incidents can you share that might be helpful?

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

Institution:
Interviewee:
Introductions:
Beginning Comments:
Interview Questions
1. What strategies did you use to reduce safety incidents?
Follow on question: Tell me more.
Follow on question: Did I understand you correctly, when you said
2. How did you identify and evaluate safety hazards?
Follow on question: Describe those aspects in as much detail as you can
Follow on question: What other aspects can you think of?
3. How do you and your managers correct deviations from safety rules?
Follow on question: It sounds like you are saying
Follow on question: What other differences can you describe?
4. What makes your safety program different from other small construction businesses?
Follow on question: You listed some of the strategies, what else was needed?
Follow on question: Were there contributing factors?
5. What additional information related to safety incidents can you share that might be
helpful?